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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The North Bennington Historic District encompasses the principal commercial and residen-
tial areas of North Bennington - an incorporated village within Bennington township -
comprising about 175 buildings of architectural or historical significance. Along its
north edge, the settlement (and historic district) overlaps the village boundary into
the adjoining township of Shaftsbury; buildings #1-10 of the historic district stand in
the latter township but are considered unofficially part of North Bennington village.

Topographically, the village occupies generally undulating terrain bisected by the nar-
row valley of Paran Crcek, a tributary of the Walloomsac River. The creek falls a total
of 110 fcet over a scrics of dams and cascades while flowing through the village from
its northeast to south boundaries. Southeast of the creek valley, the village climbs
the north slope of 750-foot Bingham Hill.

The water power of Paran Creck provided the original impetus for the settlement of North
Bennington, and a succession of mill-ponds along the course of the Creek marks the sites
of former or existing mills and factories that constitute a linear industrial area. The
largest pond, known as Lake Paran, lies northeast of the village; its dam was constructe
to serve also as the cmbankment for the railroad that connects North Bennington with
Bennington village five miles to the southeast.

The modest commercial center of North Bennington-ascends the slope northward from the
creek along Main Strecet (the principal north-south axis) to the main railroad line (an
east-west axis) that passes through the north section of the village. More precisely,
there are two small clusters of commercial buildings standing at the street line: an
older (early nineteenth century) one surrounding Lincoln Square at the foot of Main
Strcet and a slightly larger (and somewhat later) one occupying the vicinity of the
Bank Street intersection. The other stretches of Main Street are residential in charac-
ter with detached houses set back from the strect, although interrupted by the railroad
and related buildings north of the commercial center. The principal residential areas
of the village radiate from the commercial center along intersecting streets.

North Bennington retains nearly intact its nineteenth century architectural character.
Vernacular interpretations of the Greek and Italianatc Revival styles predominate,
overlaid in some cascs with decorative elements from later styles. A few examples

of other styles are interspersed, including the Federal, Gothic Revival, Second Empire,
and Queen Anne. A small number of twentieth century buildings includes an example of
the Georgian Revival style.

Gable-roofed buildings of domestic scalec constitute the characteristic building form

in the village. Most are constructed of wood; a few arc of brick (generally the larger
institutional buildings), while only three stonc structures (including a bridge) exist
in the historic district. A majority of the buildings are painted white, generally
with contrasting trim.

A distinctive ornamental device appears on many of the village's numerous slate-roofed
buildings. An extraordinarily high proportion of these roofs - both on principal build:
ings and barns or sheds - display alternating bands of imbricated shingles arranged in
various patterns. The incidence of this ornamental device suggests that the same local
craftsmen were responsible for slating many of the roofs in the village.
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The strect plan of North Bennington evolved through a period of about a century, becoming

a roughly radial pattern surrounding the village core; most street intersections occur at
oblique angles. Building setbacks along the streets vary with the terrain, building types,
and period of development. Scattered small parks and the triangular Lincoln Square contri-
bute landscaped open spaces, especially along Main and Prospect Streets. Where the latter
street crosses Paran Creek, mini-parks provide openings to the millponds both upstream and
downstream of the arch bridge.

Along most of the streets of North Bennington there stand large deciduous shade trees,
most commonly maples and elms. In recent decades, however, many of these trecs have suc-
cumbed to cncroaching vechicle traffic, highway salt, and discase, lcaving an incrcasing
number of gaps in the formerly luxuriant street-side canopy.

Beneath that canopy, remnants of marble slab sidewalks constitute a distinctive element of
the village's street environment (similar to a number of other towns in the so-called
"Marble Belt' of western Vermont). The marble slabs may have been the product of a marble
sawing mill that operated on Water Street early in the ninetcenth century. Only a few
short stretches of the slabs remain in place - principally along Main and Bank Streets -
and many slabs are cracked or broken.

The railroad that dominates the north section of North Bennington village (now known as

the Vermont Railway) traverses western Vermont and connects at the New York border about
two miles west of the village with a line to the Hudson Valley. The Bennington branch line
joins the main line in the small switching yard that surrounds the still-active freight
house (#17). The latter stands to the east of the former North Bennington depot (#18;

now converted to municipal and private offices) that occupies a prominent position at the
Main Street crossing.

North Bennington achieved the pinnacle both of its architectural development and its commer-
cial and industrial expansion around 1880, the year marked by the construction of the dis-
tinguished Second Empire style depot. By then the area of the historic district had been
almost completely developed. Numerous mills and workshops concentrated at dam sites along
Paran Creek employed hundreds of persons. Many stores and offices, two hotels, and various
craftsmen's shops contributed to the activity along Main Street. Within the same decade,
however, this activity began to recede when major fires destroyed (in 1884) the large shoe
factory at the foot of Main Street and (in 1886) much of the Main Street commercial center
north of Houghton Street; half of the latter area was never rebuilt (now Main Street Park).

Successive fires, demolition, and cconomic changes have further depleted the village's
nincteenth century commercial and industrial buildings, and some of the remaining ones have
been converted to other uses. As a result, the village has an increasing preponderance of
residential buildings. Detached single-family houses account for the majority; there are
also scveral duplex and multiple apartment buildings that reflect the historical need for
workers' housing. The latter is represented more archetypically by two surviving complexes
of mill houses, "Brick Row" on Greenwich Strecet (#1-7) and the carly ninetcenth century
group along Sage Street (#167-176). At the other end of the residential spectrum stands
the extravagant Park-McCullough mansion (#177) at the southwest corner of the village, now
adapted to a cultural center.

Interspersed along the residential streets of the village, a small number of religious and
educational buildings constitute important visual focuses and architectural landmarks. The
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Greek Revival style Baptist Church (#79) holds the elevated position traditionally accorded
Vermont village churches, rising from the height of land on its namesake Church Street.
Slightly below and to the east, the twice-enlarged North Bennington School (#86) extends
along School Strcet, now lacking many of its original Italianate features. The largest
church in the village, the Itigh Victorian Gothic style Congregational Church (#66), thrusts
its abruptly vertical form above the intersection of School and Bank Strecets. To the east
on Houghton Street, the modestly eclectic (and towerless) Roman Catholic Church (#48) exerts
a less dramatic influence on its neighborhood.

Most of the commercial buildings along Main Strecet share the Greek Revival or Italianate
characteristics, materials, and scale of the prcdominant residential buildings. Only three
brick commercial blocks exist in the historic district, and they represent three disparate
fashions of commercial architecture spanning the latter seventy years of the nineteenth
century. They range from a circa 1833 Greek temple of commerce (#113; now Powers' Market)
to the claborate Iligh Victorian Italianate style Catamount Bank (#50) built in 1864 to the
plain Commercial style Dwyer Block (#36) of 1903.

The few surviving industrial buildings in the historic district represent a variety of
cnterprises and building types, and nonc remains in its original use. The store former
Stark Paper Mill (#124; previously a grist mill, now converted to a residential complex)
is the only extant example of the early nineteenth century water-powered mills that gave
North Bennington its industrial character; this mill was constructed in 1833 on the site
of the first mill in the village (built circa 1770). Situated next upstrcam of the Stark
mill, the wood-framed Walbridge Red Mill (#129; now being converted to an educational
center) rcpresents especially the stereoscope manufacturing that flourished in North Ben-
nington during the last quarter of the nineteenth century. On a third mill site along
Paran Creek (at the corner of Sage and North Streets) there now stands a brick factory
(#164) constructed in 1920 to replace a large circa 1850 three-story, wood-frame textile
factory destroyed by fire in 1913; the original mill on this site was built in 1811 and
may have been the first cotton mill in Vermont.

Former milldams remain in place at two sites in the historic district: one at the former
Stark Paper Mill (rebuilt in concretec in 1913) and the other immediately upstrcam of

the Prospect Street bridge. Both dams have lost their original function of providing
water to drive mill wheels; moreover the Prospect Street dam has also lost both of the
mills that formerly stood ncxt to its ends, the south bank site now converted to a small
park and the north bank site now being occupiced by the fire station (#119). Nevertheless,

the dams and millponds remain important scenic resources in North Bennington's contemporary
environment.

The buildings in the North Bennington llistoric District are maintained almost universally

in good condition. Scveral have been altered somewhat by the removal of porches or orna-
mental details, in some cases done to facilitate the application of metal or composition
siding - notably the Roman Catholic rectory (#47) and the Congregational parsonage (#67).
During recent years, preservation and rehabilitation have become more prevalent; several
prominent buildings - including the former firehouse (#127), the Park-McCullough House (#177},
the former railroad station (#18), Stark Paper Mill (#124), and Walbridge Red Mill (#129) -
have undergone refurbishment and adaptation to contemporary uses. (A more detailed discus-
sion of this preservation activity appears in Section 8.)
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The buildings and structures included in the North Bennington Historic District are
as follows (numbers refer to enclosed sketch map):

1-7. "Brick Row' complex (Greenwich Street). This complex of seven duplex houses was

built circa 1867 by the North Bennington Boot and Shoe Company for the employees of its
large factory at the foot of Main Street (now the site of the McCullough Library, #105).
Originally the complex contained two additional buildings, both of which have been demo-
lished: a brick duplex that stood on the north side of Greenwich Street at the east end

of the row and, directly to its north along a cul-de-sac, the only four-tenement block in
the complex (also brick).

Five of the existing houses (#3-7) are constructed of brick, the other two being wood-
framed. The brick houses sharc a common design with some Italianate Revival characteris-
tics and rctain most of their original fabric. Oriented parallel to the street, the six-
bay houses stand on stone foundations and rise two stories to the bracketed cornices of
jerkinhead roofs that are sheathed with slate shingles; houses #3 and 6 retain their
original paneled interior end chimneys with corbeled capswhile#4, 5, and 7 have rebuilt
chimneys. The door and six-over-six window openings are segmental-arched; heavy marble
lintels mark the cellar windows, except for brick lintels on house #6. A shed-roofed
entrance porch with bracketed posts and balustrade shelters the central side-by-side door-
ways beneath a center gable ornamented by scrollwork at its peak. On the rear of each
house, a one-story brick ell provides a private entrance porch for each tenement.

The two wood-framed houses (#1 and 2) stand on the south side of the strecet at the east
end of the row. They share the basic characteristics of the brick houses on a slightly
smaller scale although they lack most of the ornamental details; these two houses are
now sheathed with composition siding.

8. Reuben Green House (Greenwich Street): post-1894, 2) stories, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roofs with slate shingles, bull's-eye windows in gable ends, porch across west eleva-
tion, around southwest corner.

9. Walsh Housc (Main Strecet): post-1894, 2} storics, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof
with slate shingles (some rows imbricated), porch across west elevation, around northwest
corner, lk-story east wing.

10. Ciocca louse (Main Street): pre-1869, 1% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof, porch across east elevation, around southeast corner.

11. Milo C. thuling Housc (66 Main Strecet): Built by William E. llawks prior to 1869,

this two-story, five-bay house is wood-framed and sheathed with clapboards. Rising above

a scroll-brackected, denticulated cornice, its hipped roof is shingled with imbricated

slate and capped by a raised deck (whose original perimeter cresting has been removed).

The first story windows are segmental-arched, including a bay window with a bracketed cor-
nice at the southeast corner of the house. A veranda extends across the east facade;

from a jig-sawn balustrade, slotted posts rise betwecen large jig-sawn curvilinear brackets
to support a full entablature with a paired bracketed cornice. The veranda shelters a cen-
tral round-arched, double-leaf main doorway. Attached to the west elevation of the house
is a 1%-story, gable-roofed ell with an entrance porch on its south elevation.
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11A. Huling Carriage Barn: One of the few elaborate carriage barns remaining in the

North Bennington Historic District, this two and one-half story, wood-frame, clapboarded
barn stands to the southwest of the Huling llouse. 1Its gable roof rises above a bracketed
cornice and is shingled with imbricated slate. Atop the roof stands a square louvered
cupola also with a bracketed cornice; it is crowned by a weather vane in the form of a horse.

The cast facade of the barn is dominated by a central gebled pavilion cntered by double
doors.

12, Shanahan House (63 Main Street): pre-1856, 2 stories, 3 bays,‘wood—framed, clapboarded,
gable roof with slate shingles, porch around west elevation.

12A. Shanahan Barn: 13 stories, wood-framed, clapboarded, gable roof with slate shingles.

13. Darling House (59 Main Street): pre-1856, 1% stories, wood-framed, clapboarded, cross-
gable roof, 1lY%-story east ell with south entrance porch.

14. [Cdward D. Welling House (58 Main Street): This large Italianate Revival style house
dominates upper Main Street from its position on a knoll above the railroad. Constructed
by Norman Douglas after 1869, the wood-framed, clapboarded housc is two stories high and
extends five bays across its symmetrically arranged cast facade. TIts hipped roof rises
from a heavy paired bracketed cornice to a deck encircled by a perimeter cresting.

Fenestration consists mostly of two-over-two sash enframed by molded surrounds, with those
on the first story of the main facade being segmental-arched. Bencath a small center gable
punctuated by a bull's-eye, a gabled entrance porch supported by triplet paneled posts
shelters the semi-elliptical-arched, double-leaf main doorway, itself enframed by a rectan-
gular molded surround. Originally a veranda extended across the facade, its slotted posts
supporting a bracketed cornice surmounted by a center gable above the entrance.

Attached to the west clevation of the house is a two-story, gable-roofed ell withan entrance
porch on its north elevation; a one-story solarium projects from its south elevation. The
house has been adapted to a residence for Bennington College students.

14A. E.D. Welling Carriage Barn: 1% stories, wood-framed, clapboarded, gable roof with
slate shingles, bracketed cornice, overhead door added to east facade.

15. former Marshall's Garage (Main Street): This wood-framed, mostly stuccoed building

has been severely altered to suit various disparate uses, making it an example of incompa-
tible adaptation. Built with Italianate Revival features prior to 1869 as the North Benning-
ton Hotel (located convenicntly across the track from the depot), it originally rose two
clapboerded stories (threcc stories on the south clevation) to a hip roof topped by a square
cupola. A two-story polygonal pavilion projected from its northwest corner, abutting a
veranda with jig-sawn balustrade that extended across the main (west) facade and turned the
corner to become a two-story gallery on the trackside (south) clevation.

Probably during the 1910's, the building was converted to a trucking company garage, being
reduced in the process to its present one-story height (two stories on the south elevation)
with a flat roof surmounted by a high parapet carrying a prominent projecting cornice; the
veranda has becn cnclosed on the west and removed from the south elevation. The building
was converted again circa 1970 to contain offices and, more recently, a rcstaurant.
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16. Whitman's Feed Store (off Greenwich Street)}: post-1869, 2 stories, wood-framed,
clapboarded gable roof, l-story north wing, enclosed loading dock on track (east) side.

This building was or1g1nally constructed for a soap factory, another of North Bennington's
defunct nineteenth century industries.

17. Vecrmont Railway freight house (off Houghton Strecet): Probably erected prior to 1869,
this one-story, wood-framed, clapboarded building rises from a marble block foundation to
a hip roof shingled with slatc; deep roof overhangs supported by outriggers shelter three
loading bays arranged along each side of the building. On the west end, the building ter-

minates in a polygonal office bay capped by a pyramidal roof; its windows and doors are
headed by rectangular transoms.

18. former North Bennington Depot (Vermont Railway track and Main Street): This building
was entered in the National Register on April 11, 1973.

19. U.S. Post Office (Main Street): 1957, l-story, brick, flat roof, surrounded by paved
yard. Does not contribute to historic character of district.

20. Coal shed (Depot Strect): post-1869, l-story, wood-frame, shed roof, elevator tower
on track (north) side.

21. former Stark Paper Company storchouse (Depot Strect): post-1869, 1% stories, three
loading bays along sides, wood-frame, metal sheathing (also cornices), gable roof with
slate shingles (some 1mbr1cated courses), ornate cyllndrlcal metal ventilator near each
end of ridge, 1- story cast wing.

22. Frank Green House (Depot Street): post-1869, 1) stories, three bays, wood-frame,
clapboarded, gable roof with slate shingles, l-story east ell with entrance porch.

23. House (Depot Street): post-1869, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, composition siding,
flat roof with bracketed cornice, porch on north facade with turned posts.

24. House (Dcpot Strect): post-1869, 1% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, composition siding,
gable roof, porch on north facade with bracketed slotted posts, l-story east ell.

25. Bake Shop House (Main Street): pre-1856, 1} stories, 2 bays, wood-frame, metal siding,
gable roof, enclosed entrance porch on west facade.

26. Housc (48 Main Strcet): post-1894, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, flat
roof, prominent cornice with terminal brackets above floriated frieze, porch on cast facade
with bracketed turned posts; porch shelters bay window and entrance recessed into north
elevation.

27. W. Bernice Simmons louse (46 Main Strect): post-1894, similar to #26 with facade
arranged in mirror image and triplet windows on second story; porch rebuilt with boxed
posts. .
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28. House (45 Main Street): post-1894, 2% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, metal siding,
gable roof with slate shingles, porch on west facade, bay window on south elevation.

29. Frederick Simmons House (42-44 Main Street): pre-1869, 2 stories, 3 bays on main
block, wood-frame, clapboarded, flat roof with denticulated cornice; segmental-arched

labeled windows, paneled porch on east facade, similar-scale 3-bay north wing, l-story
west wing.:

30. H. Clayton Simmons House (40 Main Street): pre-1856, Greck Revival, 2% stories,
3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof, pedimented east facade, corner pilasters
support full entablature at caves; l-story flat-roofed south wing added with enclosed
east entrance porch; built by G.W. Simmons.

30A. Barn: 1% stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof, two open stalls on south
facade.

31. Dr. Edward A. Tobin House (Main Strect): pre-1856, main block similar to #30, slate
shingles with some imbricated courses, hooded double-leaf main (west) doorway, complex
l-story south wing added with entrance porches, bracketed bay window, l-story east wing
with entrance porch; built by Gardner S. Wright. The Greck Revival main block of this
house appears similar to tkat of #30 across the street, however, it has been encrusted
with additions bearing Italianate details (including the main entrance).

31A. Carriage Barn: 1% stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof.

32. Willis' Garage or former Simmons Boiler Shop (38 Main Street): Constructed by H.
Clayton Simmons in 1900, this two-story, wood-frame, clapboarded commercial block origin-
ally contained another of North Bennington's industrial enterprises - the manufacture of
Simmons' patented fire-tube steam boiler. The building remained in that use until circa
1940, subsequently being converted with only minor alterations to a garage and gas station.

A prominent, stamped-metal cornice with a swag-and-triglyph motif encircles the building,
constituting its principal ornamental featurc; an original sign parapct bearing Simmons'
name has been removed from the east facade. A similar smaller-scale cornice surmounts
the first story of the facade, rising above the transoms of the recessed double-1lcaf
main doorway, the flanking display window, and the side-bay doorway to the upper floor.
On the south clevation, large overhcad doors have been installed to provide access to
the service stalls. A 1% story, gable-roofed wing is attached to the west elevation.

32A. former H. C. Simmons foundry (off Main Street): 1914, l-story, concrete block,
hip roof, metal smokestack at north eond.

33. Cobblestone or Dr. Newton llouse (Main Strect): The most distinctive residential
component of the Main streetscape, this house displays an unusual blend of cobblestone
facing and Carpenter Gothic stylistic features. Warren Dutcher, a local entreprencur:’

and inventor, built the housec in 1848 - and then raffled it for tickets costing one
dollar each.

The L-plan house rises one and three-quarter stories to a steeply pitched cross gable roof,
whose bargeboards are decorated with pendant finials. The exterior wall surfaces are faced
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with coursed cobblestones of two sizes enframed 'at the corners by brick quoins; dressed
stone is used for window lintels and sills and the water table. An enclosed entrance
porch occupies the interior corner between the main blocks. A one-story, clapboarded,
flat-roofed wing is attached to the rear (east) elevation. :

33A. Barn: 1) stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof.

34. Fannic Hinsdill Housc: pre-1856, 1! stories, wood-frame, metal siding, gable roof
with two gabled dormers on cast slope, bracketed canopy over main (east) entrance, l-story
west ell; large window on right side of east facade reflects former use as barber shop.

35. Stone House (28 Main Strect): The only stone cxample of its type within the North
Bennington Historic District, this finely detailed Greck Revival style house was constructed
probably circa 1840. The 1%-story house is oriented with its three-bay east gable front

to the strect, the coursed rubble wall being complemented by dressed stone lintels, sills,
and water table. The central doorway is flanked by pilasters that support a full entabla-
ture with a denticulated cornice beneath the stone lintel. The side elevations of the house
are distinguished by a full entablature that temminates with the partial cornice returns

on the main facade; only the denticulated cornice continues along the raking edges of the
slate-shingled roof.

A one-story, wood-frame, flush-boarded ell projects from the north elevation of the house
replete with classical detailing, including corner pilasters, full entablature, and a pedi-
ment on the north gable end. On the opposite elevation, a similar-scale but plainer ell
contains a balustraded entrance porch next to a garage bay.

36. Dwyer Block (Main Strecet): 3 stories, 4 bays, brick, stone foundation, steps, sills,
and lintels, flat roof with prominent stamped metal cornice; west facade marked by recessed
wall plane enframed by corner piers and corbeled brickwork below cornice.

The only brick example of the Commercial style in the historic district, this commercial
block was erected in 1903 by H. C. Simmons diagonally across the street from his boiler
shop (#32). Recently the first story of its facade has been altered by the addition of

an inappropriate false mansard and the partial infilling with brick of the original store-
fronts.

37. Morris Block (Main Street): The most eclaboratcly detailed cxample of a wood-frame,
flat-roofed commercial block in the North Bennington Historic District, this post-1886,
two-story, clapboarded building presents to the street a west facade almost fully shielded
by a large two-story porch. The first story is occupicd by two storefronts with central
entrances; transom lights surmount both the doors and windows. The chamfered-post, brack-
eted porch rises to an intermediate cornice, above which its jig-sawn-balustraded upper
level shelters the four-bay second story of the building. A prominent bracketed, denti-
culated cornice set between figured terminal brackets projects above the porch roof. : On
the north elevation, an outside staircase ascends to the second story.

38. Panos Block (Main Street): post-1886, built by Fred L. Bottom, 2!} stories, wood-frame,
clapboarded, 3-bay main block marked by bull's-eye in west gable front and altered first
story (inappropriate new windows); north ell (attached also to Morris Block, #37) has
storefront with embayed display windows flanking central entrance under shed roof.
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39. Rich llouse (Houghton Strect): prc-1886, 2% storics, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,

gable roof with slate shingles, porch across south facade, around southwest corner, l-story
east ell (garage).

40. Lowre House (Houghton Strect): pre-1894, 1% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof with slate shingles (some imbricated courses); ex-barn attached to north eleva-
tion has similar shingles, various alterations.

41. Mary Meagher House (Houghton Strcet): pre-1856, Greek Revival, 1% stories, 3 bays,
wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof with slate shingles (some imbricated courses), corner
pilasters: main (south) entrance has rccessed sidelighted doorway cnframed by paneled
pilasters supporting denticulated cornice; l-story west wing with turned-post/balustraded
porch, 1%-story north wing; built by Warren Dutcher.

42, Austin House (lloughton Street): c. 1930's, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gambrel roof with shed dormer, pilastered main (south) doorway.

43. Young House (Houghton Street): post-1894, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
hip roof with slate shingles, porch on south facade.

44. McGuire House (Houghton Strect): post-1894, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
hip roof with slate shingles, columned porch on south facade, bay window on east elevation,
enclosed north porch.

45. Stcvens tlouse (loughton Street): post-1894, 1) stories, 2 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,

gable roof with slatc shingles (somc imbricated courses), entrance porch on west elevation,
1976 2-story south wing.

46. Coy House (Houghton Street): pre-1856, double house on T-plan, 2! stories, 6 bays,
wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof parallel to strect with slate shingles, full pediment
on each gable end; central pavilion on north facade has first story entrance porch and
2-bay second story under projecting pedimented center gable; rear entrance porch at each
interior corner between blocks of house.

47. Roman Catholic Rectory (Houghton Street): pre-1869, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame,
metal siding, hip roof with deck, center gable on north slope, bay window on east eleva-
tion, l-story wing on west elevation, lks-story wing on south elevation; altered by removal
of slotted-post, bracketed porch around north, west elevations along with other ornamental
details and replacement of windows; moved from site of church (#48) prior to its construc-
tion.

48. St. John thc Baptist Roman Catholic Church (lloughton Street): The most recent of North
Bennington's churches, this modest brick structure was erected in 1928 to replace a pre-
vious church located on Water Strcet. The architect, John P. lleffernan of Boston, applied
Romanesquc ornamental details to a stonc-trimmed brick shell capped by a slate-shingled
gable roof.

The north facade is dominated by a slightly projecting central entrance pavilion that cul-
minates in a gable-pcaked bellcote with a round-arched bell chamber. The double-leaf
entrance is sheltered by a gabled canopy whose stilted round-arched ceiling is supported
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by stonc columns. Paired round-hcaded windows sct between colonnettes in stone surrounds
flank the stone-banded pavilion and are flanked in turn by stylized brick buttresses at
the corners of the building. Paired and triplet round-headed, stone-silled windows range
along the side clevations, grouped between buttresscs. Small entrance pavilions define

the rear corners of the original block; a more recent south extension at the same scale
is marked by paired flat-topped windows.

49. Gingerbread or Houghton House (Houghton Street): This excellent example of the Car-
penter Gothic style is set picturesquely on a low knoll, shielded from the street by orna-
mental shrubs and shade trees. Built prior to 1856 by Dwight Corkrin, and long owned by
the lloughton family, the wood-framc, clapbouarded housc stands one and three-quarter stories
under a stecply pitched cross-gable roof shingled with imbricated patterned slate, its
trefoil scallopped bargeboards converging on pendant finials at the gable peaks. An ela-
borately decorated veranda surrounds the north and west elevations; its trellised posts
rise through a low jig-sawn balustrade to delicate brackets at the eaves. On the east

elevation, a one-story, flat-roofed wing detracts from the strongly vertical proportions
of the house.

49A. Carriage Barn: To the cast of the Gingerbread llouse stands its 1)%-story, wood-frame,
clapboarded carriage barn on a T-plan. The steeply pitched cross-gable roof is shingled
with slate; its raking edges are embellished with wave-patterned bargeboards.

50. First National (now Catamount) Bank (Bank and Main Streets): The pivotal component
of North Bennington's commcrcial center, this handsome High Victorian Italianate style
commercial block defines the north corner of Bank and Main streets with its south facade
facing the interscction. Erected in 1864, the two-story brick structure is trimmed with
brownstone and capped by a metal-sheathed hip roof.

The eight-bay south facade is articulated by two slightly projecting single-bay pavilions
arranged symmctrically among threc flanking two-bay recessed panels. On the first story,
the window and door openings are round-headed with brownstone labels and sills; those on
the upper story are segmental-arched. Occupying the left pavilion, the main entrance con-
sists of a double-leaf doorway surmounted by a semicircular fanlight, the whole enframed
by a quoined and keystoned brownstone surround. The projection of the pavilions is carried
upward through the denticulated cornice, with each cornice projection defined by paired
scrolled brackets and surmounted by a segmental pediment displaying a heraldic emblem; the
paired brackets occur also at the corners of the building.

The bank block has been altered somewhat both in appearance and use. Originally the build-
ing contained the village post office in the thrce-bay Main Street (east) end; its central
pavilion entrance (similar to that on the south facade) has since been removed - along with
the post office - and replaced by a window. Another similar entrance originally occupied
the right pavilion on the south facade, leading to a public hall on the second story; that
entrance has also been replaced with a window. Other prominent features have been removed
from the building's roof: a balustrade formerly enclosed its perimeter, and three paneled
chimneys with corbeled caps stood symmetrically along the south slope. Recently the build-
ing has been apparently sandblasted, exposing the brick to increascd spalling.
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In recent decades, a one-story, flat-roofed, brick office wing with round-headed windows
has been added to the west end of the building. On the rear (north) elevation, a vehicle
service window has been installed with a large flat-roofed shelter above the parallel
driveway. To clear the site for the latter, the Greek Revival style Meagher Store was
demoliished in 1964; that wood-frame, clapboarded building rose 2% stories to a gable roof
with a full pediment above its Main Street storefront.

51. White Apartments (9 Bank Street): The first house built (by James Elwell) on the
newly opened Bank Street in 1851, this Italianate Revival style, wood-frame, clapboarded
house rises two storics on a cruciform plan to a cross-gable roof shingled with slate.
The gable pcaks display jig-sawn screens surmounted by finials; similar forms appear on
the corner brackets of the modillion cornice. A similarly bracketed, chamfered-post
veranda with a jig-sawn balustrade surrounds the south facade and west elevation. A two-
story bay window with a modillion cornice dominates the east elcvation. At the rear of

the house, a two-story ell extends eastward with a two-story enclosed porch facing the
street. )

The house has been subdivided internally to contain apartments, with the ell having been
enlarged for that purpose. A large carriage barn formerly stood to the rear of the house;
in 1917-18 it was moved forward to the street line on the west side of the house and con-
verted to a fraternal lodge (#52). ’

52. Masonic Lodge (Bank Street): The former carriage barn of #51 until it was moved and
converted to its present use in 1917-18, this two-story, three-bay, wood-frame, clapboarded
building has a cross-gable roof shingled with slate; the main (south) gable peak is deco-
rated with a jig-sawn screen while the side cross-gables display ornamental stickwork.

Atop the cross of the root stands a square louvered cupola bearing a modillion cornice and
a horse weathervanc. A hip-roofed entrance porch has been added to the main facade along
with second-story windows; the original carriage entrance has been infilled.

53. Edward Phillips House (Bank Street): pre-1869, 2% stories, 4 bays, wood-frame, clap-
boarded, gable roof with slate shingles, room-height windows on first story of south facade,
l-story east entrance wing with attached ell (shed) to rear; built by Brad Sherwood.

53A. Carriage Barn: 1% stories, wood-frame, board and batten, gable roof.

54. Gaul Housc (15 Bank Street): pre-1869, 1% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof with slate shingles (some imbricated courses), gabled pavilion on east elevation
with bay window, entrance porch on south facade, l-story ell on north elevation.

54A. Barn: 1) stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof.

55. Myron Jones House (17 Bank Street): c¢. 1910, 2 stories, wood-frame; clapboarded on
first story, wood-shingled on second; hip roof with slate shingles, dormers on west, east
slopes, shingled entrance porch on south facade, shingled enclosed porch on east elevation.

56. Loveland House (19 Bank Street): post-1894, 2 stories, wood-frame, composition siding,
gable roof with slate shingles, 2-story entrance porch on south facade, 1l-story north wing.
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57. Hanrahan House (21 Bank Street): post-1894, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof with slate shingles, porch with bracketed turned posts on south facade.

58. Russell Housc (23 Bank Strcet): pre-1894, 2 stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, cross-
gable roof with slate shingles (some imbricated courses), entrance porch on east elevation.

59. Grocery store (Bank Street and Vermont Route 67): c¢. 1920's, enlarged 1979, 1 story,
wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof, converted from gas station. Does not contribute to
historic character of district.

60. former Bennington and Hoosick Valley Railway carbarn (Bank Street and Vermont Route 67):
The Bennington and lloosick Valley Railway Company erccted this one-story, four-stall, brick
carbarn in 1897 at the junction of its electric trolley line and the main line railroad
through North Bennington. Oriented parallel to the railroad, the building faces Bank Street
with its east facade still showing remnants of the original round-arched stall openings.

The trolley line was abandoned after a disastrous flood in 1927; subsequently the building
has been altered somewhat and adapted to other uses.

On the facade, the left pair of stall openings has been infilled with concrete block although
the original arches remain in place. The right pair has been nearly obliterated by brick
infilling to accommodate a later rectangular doorway; the latter in turn has been infilled
with concrete block. A marble plaque bearing the inscription "B. & H. V. Ry. Co. 1897"
remains inset on the gable end. The top of the brick wall is articulated by corbeled string
courses and a saw-tooth course that meet the eaves of the shallow-pitched gable roof.

The north (trackside) elevation is subdivided by brick piers into eight uniform panels,

each occupied by a segmental-arched, marble-silled square window. A threce-bay, shed-roofed
brick wing along the west end of the wall has bcen extended eastward with concrete block

and its original windows have becn infilled. The south elevation lacks piers but its fenes-
tration corresponds to that on the opposite wall. The west clevation has been completely
sheathed with inappropriate materials and now contains the main entrance to the building.

61. Sidney Colvin llouse (24 Bank Street): 1% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof, 1-story flat-roofed cast wing with recessed north entrance porch, l-story gable-
roofed south wing with east entrance porch. Built by Sidney Colvin in 1855, this Greek
Revival style house is set back from the street amid shade trees. TIts stylistic features
include corner pilasters that support a full entablaturc and, on its north facade, a recessed
main doorway with sidelights and transom enframed by panecled pilasters and a denticulated
cornice.

61A. Barn: wood-frame, flush vertical boards, gable roof. The barn stands to the west

of the house at the edge of a large open meadow that flanks this northwest corner of the
village.

62. Krum House (16 Bank Street): pre-1869, 2% stories, 5 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof with slate shingles, cntrance porch on north facade with turned posts, porch
on east elevation with turned posts, 1%-story south ell; built by Charles Colvin.

63. Ralph Jones Housc (14 Bank Street): pre-1869, 1% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clap-
boarded, gable roof with slate shingles, l-story east wing with recessed north entrance
porch, l-story south wing with enclosed east porch. Standing at the facade line of the
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street, this Greek Revival style housc repeats closcly the design of the Sidney Colvin
House (#61) to the west, bearing the same ornamental fcatures.

64. Amy Surdam House (12 Bank Street): pre-1856, 1% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, metal
siding, gable roof, l-story east wing with recessed main entrance porch (jig-sawn balus- .
trade), l-story south wing with cnclosed cast - west porches; built by A. Safford. This
Greek Revival style house repeats the basic form and ornamental features of #63 and 61

but lacks the main doorway on its north clevation.

64A. Barn: 1% stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof.

65. Herbert White llouse (10 Bank Strect): pre-1856, duplex (converted from single house),
1’; stories, 6 bays with center entrance for cach apartment, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable
roof, slotted-post, turned-balustraded porch on north facade, 1-story, shed-roofed south
wing.

66. Congregational Church (Bank and School Streets): Standing at the corner of Bank and
School strects, thc Congregational Church exhibits a fully developed High Victorian Gothic
style cxpressed polychromatically in brick, marble, slate, and wood, ranking it among the
most claborate buildings in North Bennington. A Boston architect, S. S. Woodcock, designed
the church, which cost $15,000 to built in 1873. 1Its strongly vertical composition, empha-
sized by a multi-stage bell tower and spire at its northeast corner, gives the church a
dominant presence in the area just west of the upper Main Street commercial cluster.

Aside from the tower, the north gable facade is distinguished by a huge pointed-arch cen-
tral panel inset with a large stained-glass wheel window surmounted by a smaller circle

of blind quatrefoil tracery. Centered below is a band of five slender pointed-arch windows
trimmed with marble. The wall plane is framed by marble-capped buttresses and a marble
water table (the latter encircles the church). A hip-roofed entrance vestibule is recessed
into the northwest corner of the building; its double-leaf doorway is balanced by another
in the first story of the tower at the opposite corner.

The square brick tower rises between culminating buttresses and paired pointed-arch windows
on the second story to a third-story bell chamber marked by pointed-arch louvered openings.
The tower is capped by a spire that rises through a tapered slate-sheathed base stage with
pointed-arch blind tracery panels to an intermediate straight-sided stage with circular
panels and ultimately to a slate-sheathed bellcast pyramidal peak.

The single-story side clevations display a range of pointed-arch, marble-silled windows
below a denticulated cornice. Balancing the cntrance vestibulc at the northwest corner,

a side gable projccts above a buttressed wall panel at the southwest corner of the church.
The steeply pitched main roof is shingled with polychromec slate; a range of four triangular
dormers is interspersed with diamond slate figures at mid-slope, bounded both above and
below by polychrome imbricated bands.

Attached to the rear (south) elevation of the church is a later one-story, flat-roofed brick
wing containing offices and meeting rooms; a similar extension to the southeast contains a
kitchen. ‘
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67. Congregational Parsonage (6 Bank Street): 7pre-1856, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame,
metal siding, cross-gable roof with slate shingles, bay window on east elevation. 2-story
south wing with recessed southeast corner entrance. This house shares the cruciform plan

and proportions of the White Apartments (#51) diagonally across the street although its
ornamentation (including corner pilasters and partial cornice returns) is more conservatively
classical. Its north-facade Ttalianate veranda also appears similar to that on the other
house, with chamfered posts rising through a jig-sawn balustrade to a denticulated cornice
with a projecting pavilion over the central steps. Another run of the veranda originally

followed the east elevation from a side entrance to common stcps at the northeast corner
of the house.

68. Gas station (Bank and Main Streets): c. 1960, 1 story, brick facing, flat roof with
false mansard; set back from street amid large paved yard; built on site of demolished Hotel
White. Does not contribute to historic character of district.

69. Ross Housc (1 Church Street): 1)% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, composition siding,
gable roof, entrance porch on east facade, 1-story, shed-roofed south wing.

70. Toomey House (Church Street): Bungaloid, 1% stories, 2 bays, wood-frame, stuccoed,
gable roof with slate shingles, gabled wood-shingled dormer on east slope, bracketed eaves,
bay window on north elevation, enclosed porch on east facade under extension of roof.

71. Davis House (Church Street): post-1894, 2 stories, 2 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded
on first story, wood-shingled on second, hip roof with gabled dormer on east slope, enclosed
porch on east facade, entrance porch on south elevation.

72. Dr. Woodhull House {(Church Strect): post-1869, 2% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, compo-
sition siding, gable roof, enclosed porch on west facade, entrance porch on south elevation.

73. Bazino House (6 Church Street): post-1869, 1) stories, 2 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof with slate shingles, porch on west facade, l-story east wing with south entrance
porch.

74. Parker Housc (5 Church Street): pre-1869, 2 stories, 4 bays, wood-framec, clapboarded,
flat roof, paired scroll-bracketed cornice, porch on east facade with bracketed turned posts,
balustrade.

75. McCarthy House (7 Church Street): pre-1869, 2 stories, 4 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
hip roof with slate shingles, paired scroll-bracketed cornice, raised paneled frieze, slate-
shingled porch on east facade with bracketed turned posts, 2-story, gable-roofed west wing
with north entrance porch.

76. Welch House (9-11 Church Street): pre-1894, duplex, 2% stories, 4 bays with center
entrances, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof with slate shingles; 3 wood-shingled, pedi-
mented dormers break cornice on east slope (larger center dormer has two bays); porch on
each facade, 1l%-story west ell.
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77. Vetal House (12 Church Street): pre-1894, ‘1% stories, 2 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof with slate shingles, pedimented entrance porch on west facade with turned posts,
1}s-story north ell with west entrance porch.

77A. Shed: 1-story, wood-frame, novelty siding, gable roof with slate shingles (some
imbricated courses).

78. Howe House (13 Church Street): pre-1869, 1% storics, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof with slatc shingles, sidelighted doorway on cast facade; turncd-post/balustraded
porch curves around east facade into brackcted slotted-post extension on south elevation;
l-story west wing with south bay window, garage attached to wing.

79. Baptist Church (Church Strcect): The Baptist Church and its adjacent parsonage (#80)
occupy the height of land along Church Strect, overlooking most of the village to thec east.
Built in 1845 a short distance to the west at the corner of West and Park streets, the church
was moved to its present site in 1865. The Greek Revival style, wood-frame, clapboarded
building presents its three-bay pedimentcd east gable front to the street; a central rectan-
gular stained glass window (similar to the three arranged along each side elevation) is
flanked by identical doorways in the side bays, each enframed by pilasters and denticulated
entablatures. The corners of the building are defined by pilasters that support a full
entablature; the latter is carried also along the raking edges of the gable roof. Astride
the east end of the ridge stands a two-stage square tower; its pilastered base stage displays
blank clock faces while the pilastered upper stage is marked by a louvered bell chamber and
crowned by corner pinnacles. '

Attached to the west elcevation is a two-story, gablc-roofed wing. A one-story, clapboarded,
gable-roofed chapel cll was added to the wing in 1972, oriented to Hall Strecet; this addi-
tion stands near the site of wood-frame horse sheds that formerly stood behind the church.

80. Baptist Parsonage (Church Street): «c. 1890, L-plan, 2% stories, wood-frame, clapboarded,
cross-gable roof with slate shingles (some imbricated courses), entrance porch on east

facade with turncd posts, balustrade, bay window on south elcvation, 2-story, flat-roofed
west wing. This house displays a simplified expression of the Queen Anne style, a style

not much used in North Bennington owing to the earlier nineteenth century development of

the village. On the east gable front, a two-story bay window with diagonally boarded span-
drels rises to a projecting pediment infilled with stickwork surrounding a slender strip
window; the south pable is decorated similarly.

80A. Barn: 1% stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof with slate shingles (some imbri-
cated courscs).

81. llarrington louse (West and Church Strects): 1847, 1) stories, 3 bays, brick, stone
lintels, sills, steps, gable roof with slate shingles (some imbricated courses); l-story,
wood-framed, clapboarded north wing. This house represents the Greek Revival style expressed
in brick, an uncommon association in North Bennington. A corbeled denticulated cornice
constitutes its principal stylistic feature, complemented by square pillars on the entrance
porches of the one-story brick wings that flank the main block (itself lacking corner pilas-
ters). Prior to the construction of the present parsonage circa 1890, this house served as
the Baptist parsonage, facing the original site of the church across West Street.
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81A. Garage: c. 1970, 1% stories, wood-frame, ‘clapboarded, gable roof. Does not contri-
bute to historic character of district.

82. Van Ben Thuysen Housc (West Strcet): pre-1856, Greek Revival, 1% stories, wood-frame,

clapboarded, gable roofs; corner pilasters support full entablature on main block; 1%-story

ecast ell with pilastered recessed south entrance porch, enclosed porch on west elevation,

1%-story north cll; built by Nathaniel lHall. '

83. DProspect School (Park Street): original block pre-1856 (built by Martin B. Scott),

1’; stories, 5 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof with wood shingles, 3 paired-window
dormers on west slope, corner pilasters; entrance porch on west facade shelters sidelighted
doorway; l-story, 4-bay, gablc-roofed north, south wings. Formerly part of the Park-McCul-
lough cstate across the strecet and known as "The lodge,' this house has been converted to

a private school and encrusted with several substantial additions; a 1 3/4 story east block
now dominates the building.

83A. Garage: 1-story, concrete block, wood-framed gable roof. Does not contribute to
historic character of district.

84. Ashael Salmon House (School and West Strcets): pre-1869, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame,

composition siding, gable roof, 2 shed dormers on cast slope, gable entrance pavilion on

east facade, bay window on south clevation.

85. Knapp House (15-17 School Street): post-1894, 2 stories, wood-frame, clapboarded,
hip roof with slate shingles capped by small deck, dormer on east slope, enclosed entrance
porch on east facade, recessed bay window with corner pendant to left of porch; 2%-story,

gable-roofed (slate shingles) north wing with bull's-eye in gable end and east entrance
porch.

86. North Bennington School (School Street): This large two-story {plus exposed basement)
brick elementary school extends nine bays across its cast facade. The symmetrical facade
is subdivided into two thrce-bay gabled pavilions flanking a flat-roofed central section -
distinguished by triple overscaled, round-arched, fanlighted, multi-pancd windows that
light a ground-story gymnasium. The sccond-story fenestration on the central scction con-
sists of paired marble-silled, straight-topped sash, repeated in the central bays on both

stories of the pavilions; the side-bay pavilion sash are scgmental-arched, and a bull's-eye
punctuates cach gable end.

The southgabled pavilion constitutes the original block of the school, erected in 1871 with
Italianate Revival ornamentation. lowever, only thc stained outline remains of a paired
scroll-bracketed, denticulated cornice; an ornate squarce louvered cupola with matching
cornice and capped by a bellcast truncated pyramidal roof with crested deck has been dis-
placed by a circular metal ventilator (presumably in 1930, when the school was expanded to
its present size). On the seven-bay south elevation, the original recessed segmental-arched,
marble-silled fenestration survives, repeated on the 1898 three-bay annex at the southwest
corner. An iron-pillared main entrancec porch occupies the interior corner of the intersect-
ing blocks, continuing their marble water table. The gable front of the original block has
been disfigured by the addition of a two-story steel fire escape and a projecting basement
entrance vestibule.

The school is sited about cquidistant from School Street at its front and Church Street at
its rear. The front grounds remain landscaped with ornamental shrubs and shade trees while
the rear yard has heen paved.
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87. Briggs House (School Street): post-1894, 1} stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof with wood shingles, shed dormer on south slope, porch on west facade with slotted
posts, bay window on south elevation, l-story east wing.

88. Ransom Salmon House (School Streect): post-1894, 1% stories, 2 bays, wood-frame, clap-
boarded, gable roof, encloscd porch on west facade, l-story cast wing.

89. Major Holt House (School Street): post-1894, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
hip roof with deck, 2 hipped dormers on west slope, modillion cornice, enclosed entrance

porch on west facade with modillion cornice, bay window on south elevation with same cornice,
l-story east wing.

90. Sam Tessier House (16 School Street): pre-1894, 1% stories, 5 bays, wood-frame, clap-

boarded, gable roof with slate shingles (some imbricated courses); l-story, shed-roofed
east wing.

91. LaVigne House (School Street): post-1894, 1) stories, 4 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof with slate shingles. '

92. House (West and School Streets): pre-1894, 1) stories, 4 bays, wood-frame, metal
siding, gable roof with slate shingles, 1%-story north ell with full-length shed dormers.

93. Kenyon House (West Street): pre-1856, 2 storics, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
cross-gable roof with slate shingles; pedimented gable with quadrant windows on east eleva-
tion shelters main entrance under its northeast corner,; half-moon window in north gable
end, paneled corner pilasters.

94. House (West Street): pre-1856, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable rcof
with slate shingles, l-story, shed-roofed south wing.

95. House (West Street): post-1894, 1% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, cross-
gable roof with slate shingles, l-story north wing with attached hip-roofed garage.

96. House (West Street): post-1894, 1% stories, 4 bayé, wood -frame, clapboarded, gable
roof with slate shingles, bracketed porch on north facade, 1l-story south ell.

97. Miles Housc (West Street): pre-1869, 1% stories; altered from original 5 bays by
"picture'" window on left side of center entrance; wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof,
porch on south facade with bracketed turned posts, l-story north ell.

98. House (West Street): post-1894, 2 stories, 2 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable
roof with slate shingles, porch on north facade with bracketed chamfercd posts.

99. House (West Strcet): post-1894, identical to #98.

100. Albert S. Hathaway House (West Street): pre-1869, 2! stories, 3 bays, brick, gable
roof with slate shingles, 2-story, wood-frame, clapboarded north wing with its own l-story
north wing; built by Amos Doty. The only Italianate Revival style brick house in the
historic district, this house displays on its south gable front a main doorway flanked by
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paired fluted pilasters with intermediate sidelights and headed by a semi-elliptical fan-
light, the whole sheltered by a chamfered-post entrance .porch with balustrade and valance.
A round-headed window occupies the gable end beneath a scroll-bracketed cornice. On the

cast elevation, a two-story bay window with figured surrounds rises to a bracketed cornice
atop cach story.

100A. Carriage Barn: 1} stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof, square louvered
cupola with cross-gable roof (slate shingles), overhead doors added to west elevation.

101. Housc (West Street): post-1894, duplex similar to #98-99, 2% stories, 4 bays with
center entrances, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof with slate shingles, porch on north
facade with bracketed turned posts, balustrade.

102. William J. Harrington House (West Street): pre-1869, duplex, 2% stories, 4 bays
with side entrances, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof with slate shingles, pedimented
south gable, full entablature, porch on south facade with turned posts. This austere
example of the Greek Revival style was constructed by Amos Doty to contain a private school
and meeting hall.

103." Franklin Scott House (West Street): pre-1894, 2 storics, 4 bays, wood-frame, clap-
boarded, flat roof, bracketed cornice with pancled frieze; sccond-story central bay window
on south facade rises through cornice; deteriorated open porch with partial scrollwork
balustrade sheltered by full-length bracketed canopy with perimeter dropped fleur-de-lis;
first-story windows have curvilinear paneled surrounds and spandrels, colonetted paneled
bay window with bracketed cornice on cast elcvation.

104. House (10 West Street): c¢. 1940, 1% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable
roof with slate shingles, gabled dormers on both slopes, entrance porch on north facade;
built on site of Henry Allen's combined house/commercial block (""The Beechnut'), 2%-story,
wood-frame, clapboarded, gable-roofed building razed in 1936.

105. McCullough Library (Main and West Streets): The most prominent twentieth century
building in the historic district and the only representative of the Georgian Revival style,
this two-story, hip-roofed (with slate shingles) brick library stands on a marble-block
foundation at the south end of Main Street, defining the west side of Lincoln Square. J.
Lawrence Aspenwall of James Renwick's firm in New York designed the building; it was crected
in 1920-21 and donated to the Village by the wife of John G. McCullough, a former governor
of Vermont and owner of the Park-McCullough House (#178).

Oriented with its five-bay south elevation parallel to the intersecting West Street, the
library presents its three-bay east facade to Main Streect. A triple Corinthian-columned
entrance porch with denticulated entablaturc and crowned by an ironwork balustrade shelters
the double-leaf main doorway, itself enframed by pairecd Corinthjan pilasters and a semi-
circular fanlight. On the second story, a double-leaf doorway flanked by paired paneled
pilasters and surmounted by a semicircular fanlight opens onto the porch roof. Brick quoins
define the corners of the building, rising to a sub-cornice band of headers in stack bond.

The symmetrically arranged fenestration is set, on the first story, into recessed round-
arched panels with marble sills, imposts, and keystones; on the West Street elevation, the
three central windows are surmounted by semicircular fanlights.
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106. Dr. J. B. Armstrong House (8 Main Street): c. 1825, 2% stories, 3 bays, brick (painted
white), gable roof with slate shingles (polychrome figured band around perimeter); 2-story,
wood-frame, clapboarded west wing with its own 1l-story, hip-roofed south wing; 1l-story north
wing. This one-time boarding house built by George Briggs together with the similar George
Welling House (#112) across the strect represent the Federal style along the stylistically
diverse Main Street. Its ornamental features are applied almost exclusively to the east
gable front: a gabled entrance porch with square pillars and a semi-elliptical ceiling
shelters a side-bay, sidelighted doorway surmounted by a semi-elliptical fanlight. An oval
keystoned, louvered fan penctrates the gable end above the regular fenestration whose open-
ings are relieved by splayed, flat-arched lintels.

106A. Carriage Barn: 1% stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof; overhead doors
added to east elevation.

107. Dr. David Gleason House (Main Street): This elegantly detailed house built by
Hiland Knapp represents a blend of Federal and Greek Revival style characteristics. The
two-story, five-bay house is constructed of salmon brick laid up in Flemish bond and com-
plemented by dressed marble lintels, sills, and water table. TIts shallow-pitched gable
roof is shingled with slate and surmounted by interior end chimneys with corbeled caps.

The east facade is distinguished by an Adamesque rccessed central entrance whose sidelighted
paneled door is sheltered by paired attenuated Icnic columns carrying an entablature embel-
lished with a guilloche motif and surmounted by a slender small-paned transom beneath the
heavy marble lintel. The guilloche motif is reiterated on a larger scale at the eaves.
Attached to the rear (west) elevation is a one-story, wood-frame, clapboarded ell.

107A. Carriage Barn: 1% stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof with slate shingles
(staggered butts). '

108. Ranney House (Main Street): post-1894, 2 storics, wood-frame, clapboarded, cross-
gambrel roof; second-story jetty shelters enclosed cntrance porch under northeast corner.

109. former Rosicer drygoods storc (16 Main Strcet): pre-1894, 2 stories, 4 bays with two
entrances, wood-frame, metal siding, flat roof, paired scroll-bracketed cornice with raised
paneled frieze, similar smaller-scale cornices on east facade porch, l-story west wing;
built by Daniel O'Brien.

110. Babson House (18 Main Street): pre-1856, 2} stories, 2 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof, blind half-moon in cast gable end, paneled corner pilasters, sidelighted east
entrance, encloscd entrance porch on south elevation; l-story, flat-roofed mnorth wing,
1}-story west wing; built by Sam C. Loomis.

111. Meagher-Brundage House (21 Main Street): pre-1856, 2 stories, 4 bays, wood-frame,
clapboarded, hip roof with slate shingles (some imbricated courses), pedimented center
gable on west slope, corner pilasters, molded window surrounds, room-height windows on
west facade first story, west facade porch removed; 1l-story, gable-roofed east wing with
attached 1%-story barn (slate shingles on both with some imbricated courses); built by
Levi Gould.
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112. George B. Welling House (Main and Sage Streets): A more elaborate example of the
Federal style than the similar Armstrong House (#106) across the street, the two and one-
half story original brick block of this house presents to Main Street a three-bay west
gable front and to Sage Strcet a five-bay south elevation with an entrance porch. The
house was built circa .1825 by G. B. Welling's elder brother, Edward M. Welling, the pro-
minent local entreprencur who constructed his adjacent storc (#113) and nearby mill (#124)
a few years later. Tts gable roof is shingled with slate, with somec courses being hung

in an imbricated pattern; an original interior chimney with a corbeled cap riscs above each

end of the ridge. Now painted white, the house is approached by marble slab walks and
steps.

The west gable front displays a side-bay entrance distinguished by paired engaged columns
whose capitals carry a semicircular fan set in a keystoned round arch. The window openings
are relieved by splayed flat-arched lintels; an elliptical keystoned fan punctuates the
gable end. The south elevation is marked by the central gabled entrance porch whose single
columns support a denticulated entablature bencath a round-arched ceiling; the doorway is
enframed by pilasters carrying a semicircular fan. On the second story, a circular key-
stoned fan is centered above the entrance porch.

Subsequent to 1890, a two and one-half story gabled pavilion has been added to the southeast
corner of the house, its first and second stories being lighted by triplet windows. Also
since 1890, an Italianate veranda with chamfered posts and a bracketed cornice has been
removed from the south and west elevations; however, a similar entrance porch remains in
place on the north elevation. Attached to the cast elevation is a one and one-half story,
wood -frame, clapboarded wing with an entrance porch on its south elevation.

112A. Carriage Barn: 2% stories, wood-frame, vertical flush boards, gable roof with poly-
chrome slate shingles (some imbricated and figured courses); overhead doors added on south
elevation; 1%-story clapboarded south ell (garage).

112B. Barn: 1% stories, wood-frame, vertical flush boards, gable roof with slate shingles.

113. Powers' Market (Main and Sage Streets): A unique example (both in North Bennington

and Vermont) of the early nineteenth century penchant for adapting the Greek temple form

to secular uses, this two and one-half story brick (painted white) building has remained
continuously a store since Edward M. Welling constructed it circa 1833. Its three-bay west
gable front consists of a simplified Doric portico surmounted by a full pediment; the four
smooth-faced columns are constructed of brick molded to the appropriate curvature and stand
on a marble-slab porch deck that suggests a stylobatc. The storefront's center cntrance 1is
flanked by slightly embaycd display windows. The classical character of the portico has been
impaired by the addition in the 1920's of a wood-framc extension of the second story forward
to engage the columns.

The prominent entablature of the gable front is carried also around thc side elevations of
the building. The gable roof is shingled with slate hung partly in imbricated and patterned
courses; an interior chimney stands at each end of the ridge.

A two and one-half story, wood-frame, clapboarded ell is attached to the south elevation.
Its gable roof is also shingled with polychrome slate hung partly in imbricated courses
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with a figured border. At the interior corner of the two blocks, a clapboarded secondary
entrance vestibule extends from the portico to the ell.

114, Storefront (Main Street): c¢. 1955, l-story, concrete block, flat roof; built on

site of former O'Brien Store, destroyed previously by fire. Does not contribute to his-
toric character of district.

115. former Union Store (Main Street): c. 18207, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, compo-
sition siding, gable roof; slightly embayed display windows flank central entrance on west
facade; outside staircase to second story on north elevation. The middle (and probably

the oldest) member of an cxtraordinary row of three similar neoclassical commercial blocks
(#113, 115, 116) that define the east side¢ of Lincoln Squarec, this former general store was
originally constructed by a stock or union company on the opposite side of the square at
the corner of Main and West Streets (now the site of the McCullough Library, #105). When
the North Bennington Boot and Shoe Company factory was erccted on that lot in 1867, the
store was moved across the square to its present site. Subscquently it has served a variety
of commercial uses, including Horton's plumbing shop and Ciocca's fruit market, until
recently being converted to a residence.

116. Percey's Store (Main and Prospect Streets): Similar both in scale and style to
Powers' Market (#113) at the oppositc end of the neoclassical commercial row, this 2%-story,
three-bay, wood-frame, composition-sided store was built prior to 1852 by P. L. Robinson.
This building differs from its counterpart in the stylistic interpretation of its west
gable front: instead of a Doric portico, it displays prominent corner pilasters and a
flush sccond story benecath its entablature and pediment. The first-story storefront con-
sists of four double-doored bays delineated by paneled pilasters, surmounted by slender
transoms, and now shéltered by an added full-width canopy suspended beneath the original
first-story cornice.

The recar (east) elevation is marked by three loading doorways aligned vertically beneath
a hoist at the projecting gable peak. The gable roof is shingled in slate hung with some

imbricated courses. A one-story, clapboarded, flat-roofed wing is attached to the north
elevation.

117. former Andrew J. Nash blacksmith shop (Nash Strect): pre-1894, 2 stories, 4 bays,
wood -frame, clapboarded, gable roof with slate shingles; overhead door added to original
double-~leaf doorway on west facadec.

118. former Shanahan's livery stable (Nash Strecet): post-1894, 2} stories, 4 bays, wood-
frame, novelty siding, gable roof with slate shingles (some imbricated courses), conical-

capped metal ventilator atop ridge, first-story range of small stable windows on rear (east)
elevation.

119. North Bennington fire station (Prospecct Strcet): 1965, Benjamin Thompson, architect;

3 bays, brick, flat roof, articulated chimney shaft at northwest corner, 3 engine stalls
on west facade.

120. Bevis House (Water Street); pre-1856, 2 stories, 4 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded,
gable roof, gabled entrance porch on east facade with columns.
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121. Driscoll House (Water Street): pre-1856, '1% stories (plus exposed basement on east
facade), wood-frame, composition siding, gable roof, 2-story, shed-roofed north wing.

122. Mackey House (Water Strect): pre-1856, L-plan, 1% stories (plus exposed basement
on east facade), wood-frame, clapboarded, cross-gable roof with slate shingles, shed dor-
mers on east and north slopes, porch on south block.

123. '"Baby Tom" Powers House (Water Strect): pre-1856, 1)% stories, 3 bays, wood—fréme,
mctal siding, gable roof, 1';-story north ecll.

124, former Stark Paper Mill (off Water Strect): The most important surviving represen-
tative in the historic district of North Bennington's industrial architecture, this three
and onc-half story (one story less on the cast facade), five-bay, stone mill stands below
Water Street beside the falls of Paran Creck. ILdward M. Welling constructed the mill in
1833 on the site of Joseph Haviland's pioneer grist mill, using halves of grindstones from
the original mill for some lintels. Other lintels and sills are mostly of dressed stone;
the oversized lintel of the sccond story window (formerly a loading door) above the main
entrance on the cast facade bears the inscription: "Edward M. Welling 1833 The immovable
pillars of the independence of our country, our agriculture and domestic manufactures.' The
coursed rubble used in the walls was quarried from the vicinity of the site.

The north and south end walls of the building rise to stepped parapets that project above
the slate-shingled gable roof, now penctrated by an array of skylights. A tall gabled dor-
mer {whose former loading door has been replaced by a window) centered on the east slope
formerly bore a hoist for raising materials to the upper stories. A square-section brick

chimney stands at the northeast corner of the building, tapering gradually upward to a cor-
beled cap.

The mill has been encrusted through time with various wings; however, cxcepting the 1%-story,
gable-roofed stone office wing attached obliquely to the northeast corner, only remnants

of them survive. On the south (creekside) elevation, a former three-story, wood-frame,
clapboarded wing has been demolished; an attached 1% story, wood-frame, gable-roofed south
wing on ahigh stone foundation has recently been refurbished and sheathed with vertical
flush boards. Formerly attached along the west elevation of the mill was a one-story,
shed-roofed stonc wing with a high center gable punctuated by a bull's-eye; now only its
stone west wall remains standing above the tailrace channel.

The mill stands to the west of its dam a short distance back from, and almost perpendicular
to, the creek. The dam, which was rebuilt in concrete in 1918, diverted water from the
pond to twin penstocks that have been dismantled. | The penstocks delivered the water to

a horizontally-mounted turbine in the mill's bascment (also dismantled). Downstream of

the mill, the tailrace remains cvident and partly filled with water.

The building has served various uses during its nearly 150-year history. Between 1833 and
the catastrophic flood of 1852, Edward Welling used it alternately as a saw mill, grist
mill, and starch mill. A grist mill at the time of the flood, it was cngulfed and its
contents destroyed; thercafter Welling converted it to a paper mill and it continued in

that operation under thc name Stark Paper Co. until circa 1925. During the succeeding half-
century, it was used mostly for storage, with the North Bennington Village offices occupying
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the northeast wing. Then in the late 1970's the building became an outstanding example
of historic preservation activity in North Bennington, being converted to a residential
condominium complex by the architect, Timothy D. Smith.

124A. Stock barn: 1% stories, wood-frame, boards/battens, gable roof with slate shingles;
stands at north end of dam.

124B. Garage: c. 1979, 2 stories, wood-frame, boards and battens, gable roof with slate
shingles. Doecs not contribute to historic character of district.

125. former James E. Powers' clothing store (Prospect and Water Streets): c¢. 1890, 2
stories, 4 bays, wood-frame, composition siding, flat roof, bracketed cornice on north
facade; 2-story porch on north facade shelters first-story storefront with plate glass
display windows flanking cntrance; shouldered window surrounds on west elevation; adapted
to restaurant.

126. Lizzie Ryan House (Prospect Street): c. 1890, 2 stories, 4 bays, wood-frame, clap-~
boarded, gable roof with slate shingles; turned-post porch on north facade shelters side-
by-side double-doored, transomed entrances on right; l-story, shed-roofed south wing; built
by Sam Watson for residence and fruit market.

127. former North Bennington firehouse (Prospect Street): Facing its modern counterpart
(#119) across Prospect Street, this former firehouse of the J. G. McCullough Engine Co.

No. 1 served the village in that use from 1878 to 1965, when the new fire station was com-
pleted. P. E. Ball erected the building prior to 1856 to contain his blacksmith shop, and
Andrew J. Nash also plied the trade here before moving to his later shop on Nash Street
(#117). Since 1965, it has undergone another major adaptation to become a private residence.

The two and one-half story, wood-frame, clapboarded building rises another full story
above Paran Creck on an exposed rubble-stone basement. Its gable roof is shingled with
slate, some courses of which are hung in an imbricated pattern. On the side elevations,
the cornice is decorated with jig-sawn brackets.

The north facade preserves intact its appearance from the late nineteenth century. On the
first story, two former engine stalls are marked by double-lecaf doorways, flanked on the
left by a pedestrian centrance; the original upper panel glazing in thesc doors has been
blanked. The thrce doorways along with the two bays of paired windows on the second story
are headed by floriated moldings; inappropriate arcs of wide dimension stock have been

added above the engine stalls possibly to suggest the slender round-arched firchouse sign
that formerly surmounted the stall openings.  The sccond story is delincated by paneled
bands carried across the facade. The gable end displays an original round-arched band inset
with imbricated wood shingles.

128. Prospect Strcet Bridge: TLevi Gould constructed this onc-span stone arch bridge in
1876 to carry Prospect Street over Paran Creck. During the middle twenticth century, the
bridge was completely cncased in concrete, thercby concealing its original appearance.
Five-bar railings supported by cruciform iron posts remain in place to protect its road
and walkways.
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129. Wa'bridge Red Mill (Prospect and Pleasant.Streets): This former industrial building
‘ngs to the usteep seuth bank of Paran Creck across from the former firchouse (#127). On
ts Pleasant Street (south) facade only one story is exposed, corrvesponding to the second
"*ory of the north clevation which rises two and one-half stories above a massive coursed
m:oble bascnen® story whosce foundation is washed by the creck. Constructed by Bronson Har-
non prior te 1856, the wood-frame, clapboarded building is capped by a gable roof sheathed
with stamped metal.  Entrances exist both on the Pleasant Strecet facade and onc story below
on the Prospec Street clevation, which also has a loading doorway in its gable end. Attache
“~ the west clevation is a two-story, flat-roofed wing, connected in turn to a perpendicular
two and one-half story, gable-roofed block.
The building has scerved many different industrial and commercial uses during its history.
O-icirally a shop for making carpenter's squares, its principal occupancy occurred from
'3 to 1911 wihen the ML S. Walbridge Co. used it to manufacture stercnascope equipment.
“ihsequestly o saw nill owned by George Elwell and a hardware store among other uses, the
oo ding is curcontly (1980) being refurbished and converted to an educational center by
e Prosyect School (HE3).

. TFronk Woairous llouse (Pleasant Street): 1% stories, 4 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded
«1hie roef with oslate shingles, 1-story north ell; main block originally part of #136 to
7 th, detache ' 1ost-1894.,

5. G. DLoMatlison House (Pleasant Street): pre-1869, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, com-
position =idine . gable roof, porch on west facade with bracketed turned posts, l-story ecast
wing, buiit by . B. Phillips.

172, James No*r?ssn) Housc (Pleasant Street): Greek Revival, pre-1856, 2 stories, 3 bays,
wood-frame, clanboarded, gable roof with slate shingles (some imbricated ‘courses), corner
pilasters supp:s t overscaled entablature inset with cyebrow windows on south elevation;
side-bay wain entvance on west facade enframed by pilasters bearing entablature; l-story,
shed-roofad north wing with full cornice return; l-story, gable-roofed cast wing; built

by Rufus Towsley.

15,0 Louis Lassour louse (Pleasant Street): pre-1869, 1% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame,
clapboardad, gabl~ roof with slate shingles (some imbricated courses), porch around south-
wost corner with fluted posts and turned balustrade, l-story cast wing; built by lerbert
S. walbridge.

135N, Barn: ' storics, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof.
134, Charlos Corcoran llouse (Pleasant Street): pre-1894, 1l stories, wood-frame, clapboardc
cvoss-gab o roc” ~ith slate shingles (some imbricated courses), rabled dormers on east, west
slepes, novch on west facade with bracketed turned posts; built by Michael Madden.

5. Jarmes Pewes Pouse (Pleasant Street): 1% stories, 5 bays, brick with marble lintels,
able roof with slate shingles, gabled dormer on west slope; l-story, wood-frame, clapboarded
nbufh wing. Or~ of two vernacular Greek Revival style brick houses in the historic district
ftie other beir, #81). this house displays a corbeled denticulated cornice and a pilastered
central entrvance on its west facade facing Paran Creck. TFor a decade or so following its
corstruction b . B. Phillips in 1848, the house was approached via a bridge from Water
Street rather -1 the subscaquent extension of Pleasant Street.
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124, House (P'rospeet Street): pre-1856, L-plan, 2 stories on west block, 1% stories on
cist, wood-framc, clapboarded, CJoss—gablc roof with slate shingles, interior corner
entrance norch on north facade with turned posts.

. James Mefovern J'ouse (Prospect Street): pre-1856, L-plan, 1% storics, wood-frame,
apboarded, cross-gable roof with slate shingles, paneled corner pilasters (also on main
looLway,, porch on cast facade with brackected chamfered posts and jig-sawn balustrade;
uilt by W. J. Watson.

BISER IS

attie &, Welling llouse (Prospect Street): L-plan, 21 stories, wood-frame, clapboarded
cress-gable reof with slate shingles, half-moon windows on gable cnds; 1-story wing on
interior corn~r adds fourth bay to cast facade; bay window on south elevation, 1%-story
seuth wing with poreh, Z-story west wing. Built by P. L. Robinson prior to 1856, this
touvse aprears s'milar to the contemporary White Apartments "(#51) on Bank Street. Its east
‘acde 1s gominated hy an Ttalianate veranda with bracketed chamfered posts and a jig-sawn
Sniustrade.  Other orpemental details include a bracketed cornice and jig-sawn screcens at
~ pable peaks.  Now adapted to a residence for Bennington College students, the house is
s:% back from the street amid landscaped grounds and shade trees

1270, Carriage Barn: One of the most claborate carriage barns in the village, this one
17 thres -ouarter story, wood-frame barn stands to the northwest of the housc sheltered by
L1 ceoniferous trees.  Tts steeply pitched cross-gable roof is shingled with slate and
crowned by a zoiave louverced pyramidal-peaked cupola atop its cross. The raking edges of
e roof are trimied with decorated bargeboards that converge on ornamental scrollwork at
the gable peaks.  The zable ends are sheathed with diagonal flush boards in contrast to
“he clapbearded first story.

39, Tred Welling louse (Prospect Street): This one and one-half story, three-bay brick
nointed white) building was erccted prior to 1856 as the schoolhousce for District No. 10.
“Tter the construction of the village's central school (#86) in 1870, this building was
ceaverted to o vesidence.  Its cast facade is marked by a porch with a clapboarded balus-
rade: the gable cond is punctuated by two intermediate quadrant windows and a round-arched

loover at the reak.  The gable roof is shingled in slate, with gabled dormers on both slopes.

Aosimilar-scale. woed-frame, clapboarded wing extends westward from the main block with an
entrance rorch on i+ts north clevation. On the south elevation, a gabled pavilion. projects
a clapboarded upror story above an open first story that serves as an entrance porch for

a side doorwayv.

140. TEd Nash House (Prospect Street): pre-1856, 1% stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded
gable rooi’, morch or cast facade, 1-story north wing with enclosed porch

LA0A.  Barn: - stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof.
14l. Pd Mosher .louse (Prospect Street): pre-1894, 2! stories, 2 bays with 2-story poly-

Fonnl towcr at mertheast corner, gable roof with slate shingles, porch on cast facade with
corned pests/betastrade and pedimented gable above entrance steps, 2-story west wing.
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2. Eli-abet™ Dwyer Jlouse (Prospect Strect): -post-1894, 1! storiecs, 2 bays, wood-frame,
c’rpboarded, g ie roof, l-story north wing with bracketed entrance porch, l-story west
g owith bracketed entrance porch.

145. Col. J. M. Walbridge House (34 Prospect Street): Although converted to a nursing
home circw 1960, this house rctains most of its original character, including an ornate
veoranda atmost ?don+ical in style to that on the Milo C., Iuling House (#11) on Main Street.
Levri Gould built the two-story, three-bay, wood-frame, clapboarded housc prior to 1856.

Ri=zing above a raired scroll-bracketed denticulated cornice, its hip roof is shingled with
slate.

The veranda extonds across the west facade and continues around both the north and south
elcvations.  Trom a stickwork balustrade (probably altered), slotted posts rise between
tooze jic sawp curvilinear brackcetes to support a full entablature whose cornice reiterates
er ~osmailor scale the design of the main cornice. The veranda shelters a side-bay, side-
“anted moin doeorway and room-height windows, all with molded surrounds. A one-story,
flat-roof ~d wirg extends the line of the veranda from the north elevation of the main block
a’ g a two-stovy cast wing.

147A, Ban: U stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof.

M4, Watrseon licvse (Prospect Street): c¢. 1930's, 1% stories, wood-frame, composition

st ing; stceply nitched gable roof with shed dormers on both slopes curves outward to cap
l-story ~~ith wing: cxposed rafter ends, gabled entrance porch on west facade with arched
cooiing.

5.0 Herbert S, wWalbridge tousce (Prospcct Street): pre-1894, 2 stories, 3 bays, wood-
frame, c¢’pboavied, gable roof with slate shingles, porch on west facade with turned posts,
Piz-sawn bolustree, bay window on north clcvatlon, 1-story cast wing with falsc front on
ocast:elevntion.

1770 Andrew J. Nash llouse (48 Trospect Strect): pre-1856, 1% stories, 5 bays, wood-frame,
clapboavced. cros-gable vool with slate shingles, large center gable on west slope, corner
rilasters, porch on west facade with bracketed chamfered posts, jig-sawn balustrade, pilas-
tored sidaliphted central doorway, l-story cast e¢ll; built by P. L. Ball, who also built

o former firvchovwse (H127) as his blacksmith shop, subscquently operated by Andrew J. Nash
before he buil* bis later shop (M117).

=

146A. Barn: 173 storviecs, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof with slate shingles.

347, Georre 1. ilwell llouse (rospect Strect):  The finest residential expression of the
Sreck Revival s olce ?n the historic district, the oviginal temple-form block of this 2%
e~y three-t . weod-frame, clapboarded house was built prior to 1856 by a Dr. Whipple.
o impecing weo - Lacade prcsents to the street a tetrastyle portico surmounted by a clap-
peoarded pediment insct with a semi-clliptical fanlight; bencath the pediment, the recessed
twe-story wall piance s entered by a right-bay doorway and bounded by corner pilasters.
T~ gable Toof i  shingled with slate.
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The main block has been encrusted with small cctectically-styled wings. A 1Y4-story south
.. 1s capped by a ga™le voof shingled with imbricated slate:; its scroll-bracketed, cham-
Tered-post west ontrance porch carries a dropped trefoil band on the cornice. The latter
dtail continucs arcund the cornice of an attached flat-roofed south wing. Another 1-story,
flat-rocfed wing projects from the north elevation with a  similar larger porch having a
jig-sawn balustrade. A I14-story wing extends also from: the rcar (cast) clevation.

147A.  Carrisge Barn:  Somewhat below the house to the northeast stands a large 1%-story,
wood-frame, clapboarded carriage barn. Its cross-gable roof rtises above a modillion cor-
nice with corner brackets and is shingled with slate. The barn roof is crowned by a square
lovrered cupela with corner pilasters and a bracketed cornice; its roof is surmounted by

a short spire teopped by a horse weathervanc.

145, Catherine ¥lwell Tlouse (Prospect and Mechanic Streets): post-1894, 2% stories, 2

hovs, wood-frare, clanboarded, gable roof with slate shingles; porch on west facade, arourd
~~thwest corner with bracketed turned posts, balustrade; 2-story north pavilion terminates

both main porch and north entrance porch of 2-story ecast wing; 1)-story south ell.

179, Hou s (Prospect and Mechanic Streets): post-1894?, l-plan, 2 storics, wood-frame,

¢ nbhoarded, cross-gable roof with slate shinpgles; interior corner entrance porch with

pbracketed turned nosts, balustrade, valance; 1%-story east ell.

15 Hovse (Mes'anic Street): post-1894, similar to #148 but different oricntation;
crtrance corch poobably rebuilt, lacks turned post, ctc.; west garage wing (recent?) has

for o dght over rizht-bay door.

I

100 Hovse (Mechanic Street): post-1894, duplex, 2'; stories, 6 bays with central entrances,
cable yoof with =slate shingles, center gable on south slope; entrance porch on south facade
with bracketed “urncd posts, balustrade; l-story north wing with cntrance porch at cach end.

152, House (Mechanic Strcet): post-1894, similar to #148 on larger scale, 2'; stories,
ood-frare, clo; narded, cross-gable voof with slate shingles; interior corner cntrance

porch with bracketed turned posts, balustrude, valance; 2-story, flat-roofed south wing.

153. C. W. White House (Mcchanic and North Streets): c¢. 1903, 2 storics, 3 bays, wood-

frame, clapheoarded, hip roof with slate shingles capped by bhalustraded deck, modillion
cornice {alsc on porches. bay window), enclosed entrance porch on south facade with seg-
mental pediment above doowway; paired windows on facade's sccond story flank oval stained
class win:ow; hay window on west clevation, 2-story, hip-roofed north wing with west
cntrance perceh, iarge concrete foundation being built at rear.

1533A. Garage: -story, wood-framc, wood-shingled, hip roof.

1A Houo (10 “hantic Street): post-1894, similar to #150 without center gable, duplex,
stories. O hio< with central entrance on cach half, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof
with slate shir~les; entrance porch on north facade with bracketed posts, balustrade,

valance; 2-storv south cll with side entrance porches.

185, Richard Corcoran llouse (Mechanic Street): pre-1894, 2 stories, 2 bays, wood-frame,
motal siding, ¢7%le roof with slate shingles, 2-story west pavilion; interior corner
crirance porch «ith hracketed turned posts, plain balustrade; l-story south wing.
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ito. House foff Mechonic Street): 2% storices, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable
roof, corner brackehs at caves; 0ssibly converted former barn of #157.
P

1537. Mocrey llouse (19 Mechanic Street): pre-1894, 2 storics, 2 bays, wood-frame, compo-

<ition siding, mable voof; porch on north facade with bracketed posts shelters main entrance
on l-storyv west wing; bay window on west clevation with bracketed cornice, 1-story south
wing; built by Riley Worthington.

158, Goodermote House (23 Mechanic Strect): pre-1849, T-plan, 2% stories, 3 bays, wood-
= ¢, claphearded, gnble roof; porch on north facade with bracketed turncd posts, balus-
trade; socond-story bay window recessed into sccond-story west wing, 2-story south ell.

188SA, boen: 17, stevies, wood-frame, vertical flush boards, gable roof.

1580 Rufs Towsley llouse (25 Mechanic Street): pre-1869, 2 stories, 2 bays, wood-frame,
*eoboarded . {lat roof, paired brackcted cornice with pancled fricze; l-story, flat-roofed

wost wins with enclosed porch; l-story, gable-roofed south wing with cast entrance porch;

Te-story. gable-rcofed, clapboarded barn attached to south wing.

160, PBurton Bromley louse (Mechanic Street): pre-1894, 2 stories, 2 bays, wood-frame,
¢ pboord xd, gable roof with decorated eaves, porch on north facade along west elevation;
2-story, {lat-voofcd south wing.

160A.  Poona: 17 etories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof.

10i. Arthur Shepavd Mousce (26 Mcchanic Street): c¢. 1856, 1% stories, 5 bays, wood-frame,
cilapboarded, gabkc roof with slate shingles, canopiced central entrance on south facade,
l-story ecast wing with south entrance porch (bracketed turned posts), l-story north ell,
built by Shalo> ¥W. VWorthington.

161A. Barn: 1% stovies, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof with slate shingles; over-
hoad door addedl on south elevation; recent l-story east wing (garage).

162. House (North and Mechanic Streets): pre-1894, duplex plan but converted to single;
s storiecs, A ravs with flanking central entrances, wood-frame, metal siding, gable roof

with slate shingies, l-story wing at each end; built by Vermont Mills Co. for cmployee
housing (sec #165-176).

163. North Strccet Bridge: Carrying North Street over Paran Creck, this one-span pony
truss bridge nossesses double outside walkways and constitutes onc of the last examples
of its type in Vermont. The date of its construction is uncertain; the street was opened
ir 1857-53 and records do not exist of a diffcerent bridge on the site.

"he trussos ext ond 42 feet in length and carry a 20-foot wide plank deck. The 6.5-foot
outside waikways have similar decks and are protected by diamond-patterned railings ter-

rmirated by chamfered irvon posts. UDIxcept at the southeast corner of the bridge, five-bar
iron railings (similar to thosc on the Prospect Street bridge, #177) extend along the cdges
of the dry-laid stone slab abutments. The Village plans to replace the bridge in the near
future.
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164, forrer Pavna's “hop (North and Sage Streets): 1919-20, L-plan, 3 stories, brick,
7l¢ . roof, lavgs multi-pane windows, l-story brick south block with attached wood-frame
sheds, tall squarc brick chimney at west end of latter block, 1-story wood-frame shed on
rerth ell.  Corstructed on the site of the first cotton mill in North Bennington, this
frctory »opresonts the last generation of industrial buildings along Paran Creek in the
historic district. A. S. Payne formerly used the building to manufacture small furniture.

165-176. Mill T“ouses (Factory Lane or Sage Street): All except #174 and #176 of these
d‘niﬂltjvc singin and duplex houscs along Sage Street were built for the employces cither
the original civca 1811 cotton mill or its circa 1850 successor on the site of the later
“me Factery 043, The 1869 Beers map shows the completed row of scven houses along
the north =icde ~7 the strecet, all owned by the contemporary occupant of the cotton mill
" rnont Hill? (‘.); during the present century, a duplex has been removed from each end
i the roo o the duplex west of #175 being demolished in 1975. The same map shows only
Jfv~ housos alere the south side of the street instead of this seven now standing (their
divnte that 4167 and 176 were added to the row after 1809); Vermont Mills Co.
o
r

1
0
i

"¢
at ey
L

sodations i

aNowner ivoof the housces, apparently #166, 169, 170, and 172. In any casc, the ori-
m'at ceore of bouses now constitutes the oldest complex of mill housing in Vermont; the
heuses ron inod in common corporate ownership until sold separately in the mid-1950's

105, Housr (32-74 Sage Street): duplex, 1% stories, 6 bays with central entrances benecath

oychrow windews, wood-frame, metal siding, gable roof with slate shingles, entrance porch
on zouth ¢

156, Horre (Sooe and North Streets): 1% stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, cross-gable
with slatc HLwrlcc entrance porch on east facade, 1%-story south wing.

167. Houze (27 Sage Street): 1% stories, 2 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof
w_ th \ldTQ shinolesy 1-story, shed-roofed cast wing; l-story south wing.

168, liouse (28&-30 Sazce Street): duplex, 1% stories, 6 bays (originally 87?), wood-frame,
netal siding, cohle roeof with slate shingles, central entrances bencath eyebrow windows
on south facoade, vecent enlavged multi-pane windows flank entrances; 1';-story north cll

with recent l-story, flat-roofled west wing (and carport).

(Sur o Evveet): 1% stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof with slate
{ , toe } south shed.,

170, llousz (23 Sage Street): 1% stories, 2 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof
with slatc shingies, enclosed cast entrance porch, l-story south shed.

Sa-> Street): 1) stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof with

171 Housce
ngles. T-story north wing.

zlate shin

(
1o

TTTL Hovsze (19 Snge Street): duplex, 2 stories, 4 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable
roof with slate shingles, 1%-story south ell with entrance porch on each side, 1-story
scuth wirg beine 2dded to cll.

175, llouse (18 S-rme Street): 15 stories, 3 bays, wood-frame, clapboarded, gable roof
with slate shivgics, l-story north wing.
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174, Loomis llowvse (15 Sagc Strect): 1% stories, wood-frame, clapboarded, cross-gable
voof with slaote shinsle 15-story west ell with entrance porch on north facade.

ik Veooakin Homse [14-16 Sage Strect): Among the houses of the Sage Strect complex,
this 14-rlory, ~izht-bday, wood-frame, clapboarded duplex represents most nearly its
criginal onpearvance.  Tts south facade is arranged in a mirror image: the side-by-side
wain entrences nre surmounted by vectangular transoms and a common entablaturc while
thc onext boy ortward on cach flank is marked by six-over-six sash on the first story
henecath nn evevow window set immediately below the simplificd centablature at the caves;
too more 1lovk 1 window bhays complete the symmetrical facade. The two-bay gable end
crcvatiore di=ploy partiol cornice returns. The gable roof is shingled with slate; an
irtovior Chimnov stands at the ridge over cach half of the house. A smaller-scale 1%-

e

sy oell proicess from the rear {(north) clevation with an attached onc-story north shed.
P .

T House 9 “rge Sircet): pre-1894, 1% storics, 5 bays, wood-frame, composition siding,
oo ble peoni with :late shingles; 1-story, gable-roofed east wing; 1-story, shed-roofed south

[

q

177, Par-v~Ori ough tHouse (Park Street): This housc was entered in the National Register
as the Governor McCullough Mansion on October 26, 1972,

. Corviage Barn: entered in the National Register together with the Park-McCullough

1772, Th: Plariouse: entered in the National Register together with the Park-McCullough
licuse, q. V. :

177C.  Gawrage: '3 storics, concrete block, wood-framed gable roof with clapboarded gable
ends.  Dons net contribute to the historic character of the district.

178. Governor Highiand IHall Farmhouse (off Park Strecet): entered in the National Register
together with the TPark-McCullough llouse (#177), q. v.



) .
LIRSY W

PENDD AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE -- CHECK AND JUSTIFY BELOW
PRIMISTORIT L ATCHE TLOGY PREHISTORIC . COMMUNITY PLANNING —_LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE — RELIGION
_1ADD AN L ARCHYMOGY HISTORIC CONSERVATION —LAW —.SCIENCE
1800 nan AGRICULUTTRE FCONOMICS — LITERATURE __.SCULPTURE
L0509 -._X‘\HC‘H‘.‘.CTUHE . EDUCATION — MILITARY _SOCIAL/HUMANITARIAN
TT00-1799 _ART _ENGINEERING —-MUSIC — THEATER
.X1800-1729 __.COMMERCE L EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT — PHILOSOPHY _XTRANSPORTATION
— 10072 —COMMUNICATIONS X INDUSTRY . POLITICS/GOVERNMENT __OTHER {SPECIFY)

. INVENTION

SPEC'FIC DATES BUILDER/ARCHITECT

STATEMENT ¢ SIGNIFICANCE

The villare (and historic district) of North Bennington ranks among the oldest concen-
trations of industrial activity in Vermont, its late cightcenth and ninctecnth century
induzzrial development based on the water power of Paran Creck. Although none of the
car’iest mills remains extant, the mill housing along Sage Street constitutes the oldest
surviving coaplox of its kind in the state, having been built circa 1811. Textiles,
pap~>. and grain dominated North Bennington's ninetcenth century output; additionally,
the iliage beceme a center of stereoscope manufacturing during the last quarter of the
coentniTy. e arrvival of the railroad (at mid-century) placed North Bennington at the
jur~tion ~7 twe standard lines, augmented later by an clectric strecet railway; during
the *atter nart of the century, railroad company hecadquarters were located in the villagp

Subscquent occonponic changes and numerous disastrous fires have substantially reduced the
indvst-ial and commercial activity in North Bennington. That cconomic decline, however,
contriputed to the survival of the village's nincteenth century architectural fabric,
whose intorrity remains almost unimpaired by intrusions. Recently several important
bui'dingr - including the railroad station, two mills, and a firchouse - have becn refur
bisted an’ ~dapted to contemporary uses, bringing North Bennington to the forefront of

1

higtoric wroeservation efforts in Vermont.

Set“ cement of what became North Bennington began in 1761 when Joseph Haviland arrived

and buil=z house near the present W. J. lHarrington louse (#102); somewhat later he
bui’t the Frwst gristmill on the water privilege that became the site of the Stark Paper
MilT (#124>. Both the place and the stream were known hy his name until 1776, when

Haviiand wes declared a Tory and his property was scized. Consequently the name of the
stream was changed to Paran Creek (possibly after the Biblical nome for wild places)
and the miace was venamed Sage's City after Moses Sage, who took over the mill, Sage
continuwed ¢ operate the mill until early nineteenth century transfers of ownership
brought Edward M. Welling into control. )

Joseph Haviland opened West Strect, the first street in the village, to connect his
house and =i11. Later in the 1760's, Main Street was built northward from West Street
inte Shafts™ury township. In the opposite direction, Prospect Strect was extended
soutncastward over Ringham Hill prior to 1781. The accompanying residential development
of the viliage nchieved architectural distinction by the turn of the nincteenth century;
its fimcst cxpression from that period is the elegantly detailed Federal style Dr. Gleas
House (#177% on lower Main Strect.

The

o veceived a major dmpetus to its industrial cxpansion in 1811 when a cotton
mill wns ¢vretzed on the site of the later Payne Mill (#164) at the end of a new lane
from Main Street. This was possibly the first cotton mill cstablished in Vermont, comin
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barcly two decades aftor the first textile mill -in the United States had been opened in
Racie Tsland: conztruction of the North Bennington mill was probably precipitated by the
surge of cctivity 1n the cotton industry brought about by the Embargo Act and the immi-
n-—t War of 1817. At the samc time, a group of small-scale houses was built along the

lane (now Sagc Strcet) for the mill workers. FExcept for one duplex at cach end of the
s*reet, the hovees (#105-176) have survived to become the oldest complex of mill housing
in Vermont: they ~ermained in common corporate owncrship until the 1950's.  The mill itself
we s demolished abent the middle of the century and replaced (by Robinson and Parsons) with
7 much larger milil: the latter burned in 1913 and was in turn replaced by the existing

onc (#1647},

Also in 1811 or 1812, a ma-ble sawing mill was erccted by William Cardell at the next

dro o oaite downstream from the original Haviland mill (south of the historic district

hooodary) . Using marble quarried in nearby West Shaftsbury, this mill may have produced

“> marbic slabs uscd to pave sidewalks in the village; sections of marble sidewalks remain
~lace. “Tiﬂﬁ“‘]\ along Main and Bank Strecets. The marble mill lasted only until 1816

“ut the ~itce remsined in nearly continuous usc; a lane (later extended to be come Water

I reet) was opened to the site about 1825,

n 1828, n nost nffice was established under the name of North Bennington to serve the
aoendine viiloasce, theveby introducing its permanent name. Another village strect was
orencd relor o te 1035, when Houghton Street was constructed northeastward into Shaftsbury

s

tc avoid ~ hill on the Main Street route.

The villemo acovired an industrial landmark in 1833, the ycar Edward M. Welling built

ais Jarge stone Poran Creek Mill (#124, later the Stark Paper Mill) on Haviland's original
witer priviiese ot the foot of Main Street; during its first two decades, the structure
sarved as o osaw » 11, grist mill, and starch mill. Two architectural features give the

st nc mill partic.iar distinction: its stepped gable ends (rarc in Vermont) and the half-
millstones used for lintels on some windows (salvaged from lHaviland's mill).

Probabhly in the same vear, B. M. Welling also built a mill store (#113, now Powers' Market)
~ ctort distance uphill on lower Main Street. This brick mercantile version of a simpli-
ficl Greeck temple with unique curved-brick columns has remained a dry goods or grocery
s“ore cortinucusiy to the present day, ranking it among the oldest active stores in Vermont.

The first church in North Bennington appeared in 1845 when the Greek Revival style Baptist
Church was CO“Q“TUCth on its original site at the west corner of Park and West Streets.
Three years Iater, Warren Dutcher provided Main Street with an example of architectural
wirimsey, the Cob l stone Honse (#33) faced with oval cobblestones and decorated by barge-
ho rds drirping rendant finials; upon its completion, Dutcher raffled the house for tickets
that cost onc do iar each. A more claborate example of generic Carpenter Gothic, the
“iagerbrend lieoso (7493 appeared about the same time on lloughton Street., Also in 1848,
een Dieteber dnvented a loom temple that came into widespread use, and during the
fooLowing decade te operated a factory on Main Street for its production (later moved to
Massa ]u.“tts).
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Ao 7he midpoint of the century, the North Bennington strcet nctwork was expanded to serve
new residontial development. TIn 1850-51, Pleasant Street was begun (and completed prior
“o 1869). Bank Stroct was opened in 1851 to the first house built along it (#51), and
t..cn extended “he remainder of its length in 1853-54.

Ateut the same time. the development of North Bennington reccived a calamitous sctback.
Early in 3852, the Wostern Vermont Railroad - being constructed southward from Rutland -
*“"chcd North Bennington, bringing the prospect of vastly improved transportation to

tiic area. Defore that improvement became reality, however, the building of the railroad
co 1cod the grentest catastrophe in the history of the village: the destruction of its

¢ tire dndustrial district along Paran Creck.

_.»fr

?" ng the winter of 7952, the railroad continued track construction southward toward

"
emningter villase. At the crossing of Paran Crcek, a long cmbankment was hastily filled

wf frozen and ims=tehie waterial, impounding the water of the creck to create a pond
licer oo "ed Lrie Porvan).  Soon water began to seep. through the embankment and, on
Tesecary L1, 1950, the leak grew to a torrent that undemmined the crude dam. The ensuing
"ooalanche of wacer” swept down the valley through the village, carrying away milldams,
Hbe'daes,  welve to fifteen buildings (mills, shops, and houses), and the contents of

« . ral others. Onlv E. M. Welling's stone mill survived the flooding.

f7ter that cotossophe, the arrival in May of the first train from Rutland must have
seomed ar-climnctics nevertheless, the completion of the connectiung line westward to
2w New Yo k. (zhe hrov and Bcnnlngton Railroad, later leased to the Troy and Boston

s .road) was colebwntaed with a 100-gun salute. On December 18, the first regular trains
waween Trov oand Rutland entered service through North Bennington, and the village gained
~oady accrss to the world heyond the Paran Creck valley.

A 1856 mfm1 of “orth Dennington shows that the village soon rebounded from the shock of
*he flood. A now mill for the manufacture of carpenter's squarecs appecarcd on the water
srivilege now oceipied by the fire station (#119) upstream of the Prospcct Street bridge.
“This bus ness later moved father upstream to a dam site at South Shaftsbury and expanded
inTY a 101dfw" no-ional producer of carpenter's tools under the name Baple Squarce, now
Lfﬂ"lcv Teols.) Altogether, the 1856 map shows some 100 buildings within the boundarics
the hxsto*xc district. A small railroad terminal had been developed cast of the Main
tvcct crossing. including a depot, freight housce, engine house, turntable, and switching
vard. Th~e = 1lle-c's Tirst hotel, the Paran Creck House (later demolished; site of #68)
wa s located at rthe south corner of Main and Bank Streets.

In 1857-58. arother public crossing of Paran Creek was created by the opening of North
Qerect: the presont pony truss bridge with double outside walkways (#163) may have been
b 1% at that tiv>. From the south end of North Street, Mechanic Street was opcned to
“heocast o the » e time while the section between North and Prospect Strects was com-

rioted in 1849,

1
LOL Walbridge, Jhe History and DPevelopment of North Bennington, Vermont (1937),

p. 10f.
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Tho decade of the 186C's brought another spate of industrial and architectural develop-
mert to North Pennington - along with more trouble from the railroad. 1In 1864, the
village gnined an J““‘!tC"tUTﬂl landmark when the newly organized First Nnt]@nal Bank
crneted its iwposing brick High Victorian Italianate style headquarters (#50); the build-
continics to cominate the intersection of Bank and Main Streets. The president of

¢ bank was Treror W. Park, a wealthy lawyer and aspiring railroad magnate, who built

in 1864—63 his extravagant Second Impire style mansion (#177; cntered in the National
Rerister us the Governor McCullough Mansion on October 26, 1972) at the southwest corner
o* the vi‘lage. To clear the grounds for his house, Park provided for the opening of
Chvrch Stroecet and the reomoval of the Baptist Church to its present site on that street.

e
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e following year (1866), the Vewmont Legislature recognized the growing importance
of Nerth “ennington hy granting it the legal status of an incorporated village.

T go-ci M T od "Railroend Wr*”z crupted soon thereafter, in 1867. In 1864, Park had
“roocht ocentrol of the Western Verment's corporate successor, the Bennington and Rutland
“ilroad, then under leasce to the Troy and Boston company. On the cxpiration of the lease
mag 0 1867, Park suced the Troy and Boston for mismanagement of the Bennington and
and, and Gwmecitaely obtained 2 court attachment of two Troy and Boston cngines
standing 0 thoe Nerth Dennington yard.  Their evicted crews telegraphed headquarters in
T e oand o rosoae
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t~1in was hastily dispatched to North Bennington. Upon arrival, the
ilv everwhelmed the sheriff's deputies guarding the engines and then
wooea ther e fwo miles back across the New York border to legal safety.

’Jn, the Troy and Boston embargoed service to North Bennington, lcaving it
the oad o0 the line from Rutland. Confronted with the impoverishment of

Nie Bcnn1“xton ard Rotland, Park decided to build a new railroad to restore the New

Y~k connection. The new line extended southward through Bennington to Chatham, New
York f{and a conncction with Vanderbilt's larlem line to New York City) and was ‘completed
Dy 1809, thereby hreaking the Troy and Boston blockade of Nortlh Bennington. The latter
company cventrally relented and through service was restored between Troy and Rutland;
ihexeafter the line te Chatham languished and was eventually abandoned (in 1953).
Merrwhile i 1SGT. one of the largest industrial enterprises cver established in the
v’ .age, the North Bennington Boot and Shoc Company,built a three-story brick factory
en the cerner of Main and West Strecets (site of the McCullough Library, #105). [For

it employvoes (R?Hy of whomi came from necarby Grecenwich, New York), the company also
it the "Brie’ “ow'" originally of nine tenement houses along the newly opened Green-
wiz Street in the Shaftsbury part of the village (only #1-7 remain standing).

n . R . 3. - . -
Py the time Beers atlas was published” in 1869, North Bennington had expanded to the limits
of “he historic destrict, and contained about 125 buildings. Among the strecets, only
School Street does not appear on the map; it was opened the following ycar when the growth
¢f the villoge »~quived the replacement of the various small schools (including the brick

st Jing o Prorsooct Street later converted to a house #139) with a larger central school.

:',“ Shaughressy, The Rutliand Road (Berkeley, Calif.: lowell-North Books, 1964), p. 77ff,

LWL Beers, Atins of Bennington County, Vermont (New York, 18069), p. 25.
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Meceoagaic, TUW, Tark provided the new street along with the lot and the foundation, and
N < . i K 3 3

" tedianate Revival building (#86) was completed in 1861.  (Subscquently it

©s been tnlarged twice and stripped of many decorative featurcs.) Two years later (in

1773), avother lradmark arose at the cast corner of School and Bank Streets in the High

YVictoriar Gothic form of the Congregational Church (#066), designed by S.S. Woodcock of
“oston.

s
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TM~rhaps North 3ennington's most unusual industry emerged in 1873 when the H. S. Walbridge
Cu. began making cZcrcoscope cquipment in the mill building (#129) at the corner of Pros-
pret and Pleasan’ Strcets. Another manufacturer (the H.C. White Co.) cntered the business
~extt the smne time ot a mill site on the creck south of the historic district. The Wal-
hricdee £ continued making stercoscopes until 1911, then presumably succumbing to
coarvging Mhotozvaphic technology.

..... development of North Bennington culminated in 1880-81 with the construc-
z.cn of losorate brick Second Fmpire style railroad station (#18; centered in the
~otional weogisoer on April 11, 1973).  T.W. Park was undoubtedly responsible for such
cretontious depot in a village the size of North Bennington; the building contained

» geners i ofTices of his Bennington and Rutland Railroad on the second floor above a
Lirge inter-stocy cistern that supplied dits advanced flush plumbing system,

R

7 constructicr of the new depot also marked probably the culmination of North Bennington's
~cororeic) end industrial activity. A contemporary account states that "the village con-

v s thren chorches, Cong., Bap. and R. C.,) [sic] onc graded school, two cotton factories,
coe paper midl, one menufactory of stercoscopic lenses, onc grist mill, twelve or fifteen
stores, two hot: Lo besides scveryl wagon, blacksmith, harncss and other shops, saloons,

Si.. oond theout 700 dinhabitants.!

1
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Orly three years oftor that account was published there occurrced the first in a series of
¢ieastrous Fires thot eventually destroyed a substantial portion of North Bennington's

iv ostrial an” commercial enterprises.  Tn August of 1884, the North Bennington Boot and
Shoe facto v hurned, and was never rcbuilt. The same month in 1886, the village suffered
the wvorst firve in its history when a conflagration swept the cast side of the Main Street
erciet district.  Six consccutive buildings containing stores and offices were lost
Lo gem Wouy ton Steecot northward to the Cobblestone llouse (#33), and the south half of the
arca was nover rodeveloped (now Main Strect Park). The third major fire of that decade
Tollowed in 158¢ +hen Milo C. ullnk s general store, post office and tenement annex at

FEAN

v“> corner of Trospect and Water Strects was destroycd {(now thec site of buildings #125
and 126).

Another b of <t of industrial expansion occurred around the turn of the twenticth
contury. o 18740t Clayton Simmons obtained a patent on a firve-tube boiler which he
v odesineedy ¢ox owonea later, he built a wood-frame block (#1325 now Willis!'! Garage) on

kR Strect to wo.ufacture the commercially successful steam heating system, adding a
Tovsdry 30 1014 (032A5. Simmons contributed another major comwmercial block to Main Street
1";' ~ Rl . 3 ) .

Itor Child, comn., Gazctteer and Business Directory of Bennington County, Vermont for

1720-81 (Sy»wac -, N.V., 1880), p. 93.
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in 19903 when he built North Bennington's largest cexample of that type (#36) diagonally
noross thie street Trowm “he boiler shop. Another new industry, the Unity Collage and Cuff
Co., built a =substantial factory on Dcpot Strcet in 1898; however, it burned only four
vears later and was mever rebuilt.

Mublic tran: it roached North Bennington in Tebruary 1898 when an electric street railway
storted seorvice to Peneington; five months later, the line was extended to Hoosick Falls,
New York. The Bennington and Hoosick Valley Railway Co. built its four-stall brick car-
Srrn (#1601 row a roller skating rink) on Bank Strecet at the junction between the trolley
line and the =tandard railroad (the latter would become part of the Rutland Railroad system
v 1900). Frer there, the trolley line ran along Bank Street, Main Street, and thence
nlong Woroo» Stroet foward Pennington, providing both passenger service and local freight
crccice to Wates Streot [oetories. (At Bennington, the line connected with an extensive
>lcotric mcererhan network that continued southward into Massachusetts, reaching ulti-
mrrely te Goston )

The succesion of disastrous fires in North Bennington continued in October 1913 with the

< tructicy of the larze threc-story, wood-frame mill and several outbuildings at the end
of what wis then called B Z Street (Sage Strect) after the corporate occupant. The company
menafactured the nationally distributed I Z knit waists for children but succumbed with

tho fire. following the contemporary decline of the Vermont textile industry; in 1919-20,
th~ cxizt’ g brick factory (#104) was built on the site.

The rede. topment of the shoe factory lot on the corner of Main and West Streets occurred
It1927-21 witii “he erection of the brick Gcoryian Revival style McCullough Library (#105).
was dr siones pyv Jo Lawrence Aspenwall (of James Renwick's firm in New York) and given
te the v inze by the wife of John G. McCullough, son-in-law of T. W. Park and Governor

o Vermor " in " 002-04.

2vring the middie of the same decade, North Bennington's second oldest mill fell vacant
when the 3tark Paper Co. cceasced production. About the same time, the great flood of 1927
coused so much damagze to the strect railway that the line, alrecady losing much of its

.

-rnffic to automebiles, was abandoned and dismantled.

The decline of Ne-th Bennington's nineteenth century industrial enterprises was succeeded
i~ “he 1920'=2 bv the cmevpence of markedly different economic - and cultural - activity.
Tre Bingham 1117 estate (southeast of the historic district) of Trederick B. Jennings,
son-in-law of T. W. Park, was converted to a new liberal arts college for women. Subse-
duently Beaninpton College (now cocducational) has expanded to become a major cmployer

and the college community occupies a substantial portion of the village's housing stock.
Tha presenc: of -~ e college has also stimulated an increasing variety of cultural activity
ir Nerth Lorning’.on.

al ¢ oine of reilroad passenger service rcached North Bennington in the late
service on the Rutland Railroad dwindled until June 1953 when a strike brought

-~ last passergar tra‘n to the depot where as many as eightcer trains per day had stopped
in +the 1970's.  ..7ter the strike ended, the depot was closed and the agent's office was
morvaed to the Sreoht house (#17).

41



inted Tinteos Denarimoent of the Interior s s g
erage Qoncery2iicn and Recreation Service EFOV HCRS use only

I, I, T . QU 3 ‘ /

Jatieony Nasister of MHistoric Places mc?fve

M Form N\

mYent s ,,rmwkmmatmn Form dato entered ;i
EIRANE :t._.. e A5 .\»s,,.lr!::\af

Zontimintior sheet 5-7 ltem number 8 Page 7

“ile tho depot steod abandoned and deterioratinig in the 1960's, historic preservation
Sivity emcrgod in North Bennington and began to revive significant but outmoded build-
ings.  After the village built a new fire station (#119) in 1965, the former firehousc
(#127) was sympathetically refurbished and converted to a private residence. Toward the
erd of the decndel the Park-McCullough Tlouse (F177) was adapted to become a center for
critural performarces and exhibitions.

“

The {irst lor
72-73 when
highway nro
coUtaing 1h

Timothy |

—<cn<‘ rehabilitation of an historic building in North Bennington came in

¢ acpot was rescued both from advanced deterioration and a threatening

i*hc latter subscequently stopped by local opposition). The building now
‘eih Reonainaton Village offices together with those of the project architect,
fh. With this project, the depot became the first major railroad station

s treated in Vormort and the symbol of historic prescrvation activity in North Bennington.
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Lover in - ac 177 77s . the same architect undertook another major project by designing the
version of * e vecomt Stark Paper Mill (#124) to a residential complex. Currently
"’”F\ proservation cotivity continues with the former Walbridge Red Mill (#129) bheing
ryished and sdapted to an cducational center, thereby complementing its firchouse and
sarer milt ne ors across Paran Creck.  In all of these cases, the original architectural
¢.o-acter of the huiTdings has been preserved with only minor alterations being made to
accommodate the adantive uscs.

Th~ nincteonth coptury architectural integrity of the North Bennington llistoric District
remtins to an cxirasraiiarily high degree uncompromised by recent intrusions. Only in
oo case has a sionificant historic building been displaced by an intrusion: the Greck
Rov val < 7, tvo ~nd one-half story, wood-frame, pedimented gable-roofed Hotel White

that Torm or'" c¢ingt the south corner of Bank Strect opposite the Catamount Bank (#50)

; prescntcd a “wo-siory gallery porch to Main Strect was demolished circa 1960 and replaced
b amall pas station (168).  The other intrusions (#19, 59, and 114) consist of small

or r-story Mrildi~zs +hnt have been inserted WLthln the existing historic fabric of the
village.

PR N -~

Three factovs ceorioir to give North Bennington an unusually cohesive historic environment
fer a Mworking” villege: (1) its surviving nincteenth century architectural fabric that
Tverts a strong sense of its original character, (2) the relative absence of recent intru-
sions, and (3) the svmpathetic adaptation of several pivotal buildings to compatible con-
tenrorary tses.  these characteristics arce cnhanced by the natural surroundings of the
viilage, wvhosc »mpearance continues to reflect the agricultural character that prevailed
during the ninctoenth century.

Tho boundrrics ~7 the Yorth Bennington llistoric District enclose essentially the entire

n’ cteenth 101?wry village - as shown, for cxample, in the 1869 Reers atlas.” Representa-
Tive mill =itec a’one upper Parvan Creek are included in the historic district but not those
T the south #t e *he lower creek that have been more extensively redeveloped in the
prisent century. On the southcast, the historic district extends to the perimeter of

oo former Jenrings o<tu e (now Bennington College). The southwest corner of the district
beordary enclo: . s the Tark-McCullough lHouse (#177) and related buildings owing to their
irtogral associe? on with the village. Along both the cast and west edges, the historic

icors, 1oL, cit.
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dievrict corresrends to the limits of village scttlement - excluding only a 1923 subdivi-
ston west of Church Street - beyond which lies relatively open countryside. On the north,
e bhoundary rc)l cts u\wxw1sh1ng concentration of significant buildings along Bank, Main,

crnd Greenw'ch ots

l/




Fr 300 (110

irited States Dopoariment of the Interior

Covitage Gonzorention and Recreation Service

- -« ™ -
;t'\( “@\—'\r‘\u
MRS [

@yt o
Coaor W e } :

o

Crntinuation shest

0-]

smination Form

Item number

raister of Historic Places

-
r ¢
B e ]

9

Aldrich.

D. Mason and Co.,

2. Beeres. F. W. A%'ns of Bennington County, Vermont.

A.D. Tllis

North Benn

A, Child, lam

for lQ‘” S

Lewls

Cass, cd. History of Bennirngton County, Vermont. Syracuse, N.Y.

1889.

and

G ©. Soule, 18609.

New York: pub. by F.W. Beers,

3. Bromley. Burton L. Things and Ilappenings I Remember In and Around North Bennington.

ington, Vt.: River Road Press, 1967

ilton.

comp. Gazetteer and Business Dircctory of Bennington County, Vt.

1.  Syracuse, N.Y., 1880.

T. Hall. Hiland.

‘A

rr e
Hemenwny,

Vt., j\; S,

5. Robircon,
Associa "n

Shaughnas

17, Those +vero

The Local History of Bennington, 1860-1883. Chicago, 18877

Ahtv Maria, ed. The Vermont Historical Gazettecr. 3 vols, Burlingtonm,

Resci, tTyler,

The Shires of Bennington. Bennington, Vt.: The Bennington Museum, 1975.

Malvin il. Bennington Souvenir. Bennington, Vt.: Young Men's Christian

n,

v

e

2004,

sy, JJim,  The Rutland Road. Berkeley, Cal

Davs. 2 vols. Bennington, Vt.

197067974,

“1l. Walbricdac

)
Vermon+t. 190

2. Map of B

3. TPersoral

057.

Bennicpter, Bennington County, Vt.

intervicw
North bonniy

"I rbert Stebbins.

if.

Howell-North Books, 1964,

>Yark-McCullough House Association,

The History and Development of North Bennington,

New York:

D.L. Miller and Co., 1894.

of Fred Welling, Chairman of the Board of Trustees, Village of
wton, on January 10, 1980 by lugh Il

llenry.



et a0 (H‘ o

nited Ginter Dopord ent of the Interior

“aritage Tencorvatien and Recreation Service "'%af‘
O]
et DA
ERE -B@d.‘(,

anpi

DU - mmmaimn Form

Tontinuatior shoot 10-7 Item number 10 Page 1

-

T' ~ houndury of the North Bennington llistoric District begins at a Point A at the inter-
soction of the north edge of the Greenwich Street right-of-way and the east property line
of Puilding #35 in the historic district; thence the boundary follows said property line
te « Point D at the northeast corner of said property; thence the boundary turns westerly
and follows the rear (north) property lines successively of Buildings #3, 4, 7, and 8 to.
a Point C at th~ intersection of the lattermost property line and the east edge of the
Main Strect richt-cf-way: thence the boundary turns southerly and follows the cast edge
of said right-o7-way and an extension thereof across the Greenwich Street right-of-way to
a foint D at it intersection with the south edge of the Greenwich Street right-of-way;
thr~nce the ound 'ty turns westerly across the Main Street right-of-way and follows the
=7ith edge of tre Haw'ts Street right—of—way to a Point E at its intersection with the
reoy (wez®) preoverty tine of Building #10; thence the boundary turns southerly and follows
" property Linc and continucs southerly along a line parallel to, and 250 fcet west of,
the west ~dg2 «f the Main Street right-of-way, crossing the Vermont Railway right-of-way
*> - Point T at ‘ts interscction with the south edge of said right-of-way; thence the
voandery torns wosteo. vy oand follows the south edge of said right-of-way to a Point G at
o oaAnterscetion with a line parallel to, and 25 feet west of, the west elevation of Build-
L. #0605 thence the houndary turns southerly and follows said line to a Point If at its
iatersection with the north edge of the Vermont Route 67 right-of-way; thence the boundary
£ s easterly .ad follows the north cdge of said right-of-way to a Point I at its inter-
section w7 th a no-therly extension across said right-of-way of the west property line of
N iding #061: thence the boundary turns southerly and follows said extension and property
iine and <uccessively the rear (west) property lines of Buildings #74, 75, 76, and 78,
¢ ~2ses the nll Strect right-of-way, and continues along the corresponding recar property
Iines of furildirns #79, 80, and 82 and a southerly extension of the west property line of
17 lding #3532 acvess the West Street right-of-way to a Point J at its intersection with
1o south edge of said right-of-way; thence the boundary turns westerly and follows the
=onth edge of =aid right-of-way to a Point K at its interscction with the west property
Tine of Puildinsz *177: thence the boundary turns southerly and follows said property line
“r o Poin. L a* the southwest corner of said property; thence the boundary turns first
sterly anag then southerly following the centerline of a driveway past the west eleva-
tioa of Peilding F177) and contimiing along said centerline first southerly and then east-
~rlv (gouth o tetlding #178) to a Point M at its intersection with the west cdge of the
Pari Stre~t righ+-cf-way; thence the boundary turns northerly and follows the west cdge
of =aid r.ght-ot-way to a Point N at its interscction with a westerly cxtension across
13 11 right-of-wav of the south property line of Building #83; thence the boundary turns
corterly and foltows said extension and property line and successively the corresponding
reo™ property Iines of Buildings #93, 94, 96, and 123 and an casterly cxtension of the
south property 1lince of Building #123 across the Water Street right-of-way to a Point O at
its intersecction with the east edge of said right-of-way; thence the boundary turns south-
eviy and “eliow: the east cdge of said right-of-way to a Point I’ at its interscction with
n owesterly extersion across Paran Creck of the south property line of Building #135; thence

n

e boundary turs ensterly and follows said extension and property line to a Point Q at
“~ o southoant corer of said property; thence the boundary turns northerly and follows

“omoeast oronet oy bine of said building to a Point R at its intersection with the south
rreonerty line o Building #1345 thence the boundary turns casterly and follows said pro-

norty line and seoccessively Lhc corresponding property lines of Buildings #139 and 142 to
¢ Point S at the scuthwest corner of the lattermost property; thence the boundary turns
rorytheasteriy as @ follows the cast property line of said building and an extension thereof
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roress the Prospoct Street right-of-way to a Point T at its intersection with the east
edpge of r1id vight-ef-way; thence the boundary turns southecasterly and follows the east
edge of @nid risht-of-way to a Point U at its intersecction with the south property line
of Puilding #14%: thence the boundary turns northeasterly and follows said property line
to a Point V at “he southeast corncer of said property: thence the boundary turns north-
wosterly and foilows the cast property linc of said building to a Point W at its intersec-
tion with “ho <onth nroperty line of Building #156; thence the boundary turns first north-
iterly and ther casterly following the rear (so uth) property lines successively of
udlldlﬂgF #156-160 to Toint X at the southcast corner of the lattermost property; thence
%2 houndary turns northerly and follows the cast property linc of Building #160 to the
= uth edge of tre Mechanic Street right-of-way, crossces said right-of-way, and continues
apnroxim-tely 290 feet along the cast property line of Building #161 to a Point Y at the
nestheast corner of said nroperty; thence the boundary turns westerly and follows the north
nronerty tine of said huilding and the corresponding property line of Building #162 to a
Teymt Zoat its Sotersertion with the cast cdge of the North Street right-of-way; thence
“~ bound try turns nortawesterly and follows the east edge of said right-of-way across
Poran Creck o o Po'nt AA at its intersection with the south property line of Building
o045 thenoe - bHoundnry turns northeasterly and follows said property linc to a Point
P2 oat the seut!east cesner of said property; thence the boundary turns northerly and
T lows the enst nroperty line of suid building to a Point CC at the northecast corner of
said prone~ty; “hence the boundary turns northwesterly and follows a straight line to the
cheast property cerner of Building #45 and continues along the cast property line of
satd building v 1 an extension thercof across the Hovghton Street right-of-way to a Point
TTort o its mtersection with the west edge of said right-of-way; thence the boundary turns
noviheasterly 2nf follows the west edge of said right-of-way to a Point LEE located opposite
theo inteveacti v of the Take Paran road; thence the boundary turns northerly and follows
a ctraight lin. *o a Voin“ IT at the interscction of the centerline of the cast driveway
°f Buildinrg #17 snd t; ~ south edge of the Greenwich Strecet right-of-way; thence the boundary
surns westerly cal follows the south edge of said right-of-way to a Point GG opposite the
Teint A cltecady estabiished in the north edge of said right-of-way; thence the boundary
t. s northeri -»d crosses said right-of-way to Point A, the point of beginning.
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